

INTERDISCIPLINARY DOCTORAL SCHOOL

Faculty of Medicine

Stela CIOBANU (CASAP)

Maternal-fetal complications in pandemic infection with SARS-CoV-2 virus

SUMMARY

Scientific leader

Prof. Dr. Marius Alexandru MOGA

BRASOV, 2022



Mr. (Mrs.)....

COMPOSITION

Doctoral Commission

Named by order of the Rector of the Transilvania University of Brasov

No..... from.....

Associate Professor Andrea Elena Neculau,	President, Transilvania University of Brasov	
PhD	Official reviewer, Transilvania University	
Prof. Univ. Habil. Dr. Marius Alexandru Moga Prof. Univ. Habil. Dr. Liana Pleş	Official reviewer, University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Carol Davila", Bucharest	
Assoc. Prof. Habil. Dr. Radu Chicea	Official reviewer, "Lucian Blaga" University, Sibiu	
Prof. Univ. Habil. Dr. Ioan Scârneciu	Official referee, Transilvania University	

Date, time and place of public defence of the thesis: 06.09.2022, 10:00, room KP 18.

Any assessments or observations on the content of the work will be transmitted electronically in due time, to the address of the <u>casapstela@yahoo.com</u>

At the same time, we invite you to take part in the public meeting for the defense of the doctoral thesis.

Thank you.



Contents

GENERAL PART

Chapter I. INTRODUCTION	9
Chapter II. CURRENT STATE OF KNOWLEDGE REGARDING SARS COV 2 INFECTI	ION
	10
II.1. History and epidemiology	10
II.2. Structure of the SARS-COV 2 virus	11
II.3. Diagnostic methods of the COVID-19 virus	12
II.4. Symptoms of COVID-19 in pregnant women	13
II.5. The effect of COVID-19 on pregnancy	14
II.6. Vaccination of COVID-19 in pregnancy	16
II.7. Types of vaccines available in Romania	17
II.8. Placental physiology and interaction with SARS-CoV-2 infection	18
II.9. Vertical transmission of SARS-CoV-2	20
II.10. Immunology of COVID-19 in pregnancy	22
II.11. Immunological mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 infection on pregnancy loss	23
II.11.1. SARS-CoV-2 infection	23
II.11.2. Effects of SARS-CoV-2 infection during pregnancy	23
II.12. SARS-CoV-2 infection and pregnancy loss	24
THE SPECIAL PART	
Chapter III. INTRODUCTION	28
Chapter IV. THE PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH	29
Chapter V. RESEARCH MATERIAL AND METHOD	30
V.1.1. Quality of life study in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection	33
V.1.2. Graphical data processing and statistical analysis	34
V.1.3. Measures provided for compliance with the rules of bioethics and deontology of research	34
Chapter VI. RESULT	35
VI.1.1. Comparative study of the births of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection	on.35
VI.2. Research on the epidemiological data of pregnant patients in the period 2020-2022 within the Clinical Hospital of Obstetrics and Gunecology "Dr I A Shircea"	36
within the Chinear Hospital of Obsecties and Oyneology D1.1.A.Suarea	



VI.2.1. Comparative study of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection depending on the environment of origin
VI.2.2. Comparative study of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection according to smoker/non-smoker status
VI.3. Comparative research on the obstetrical data of patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, hospitalized between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea"
VI.4. Comparative analysis regarding childbirth in patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, hospitalized between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea"
VI.4.1. Comparative study of indications for caesarean section in hospitalized patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection
VI.5. Comparative analysis regarding the condition of newborns in patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, hospitalized between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea"
VI.5.1. Comparative study of the weight of newborns in hospitalized patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection
VI.6. Comparative analysis regarding the costs of patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, admitted between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea"
VI.6.1. Comparative study of paraclinical investigations in hospitalized patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection
VI.7. Comparative statistical analysis regarding maternal complications in patients with48
or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, hospitalized between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 within
Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea
VI.7.1. Studiu statistic comparativ al nașterii premature la pacientele internate cu și fără infecție SARS-CoV-2
VI.7.2. Comparative statistical study of patients according to the time of membrane rupture, with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection
VI.7.3. Comparative statistical study of patients who suffered a spontaneous abortion in the first trimester, with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection
VI.7.4. Comparative statistical study of hospitalized patients with threatened abortion with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection
VI.7.5. Comparative statistical study of hospitalized patients according to the occurrence of coagulation disorders



VI.8. Comparative statistical analysis regarding fetal complications occurring in the faces of patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, admitted between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea"
VI.8.1. Comparative statistical study of hospitalized patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection, according to fetal death
VI.8.2. Comparative statistical study of newborns of hospitalized patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection, depending on the moment of birth
VI.9. Explanatory multivariable regression regarding the weight of various causal factors (including SARS-CoV-2 infection) in the occurrence of maternal-fetal complications in the studied group
VI.9.1. Explanatory multivariable regression regarding the weight of different causal factors in the occurrence of premature birth
VI.10. Evaluation of the quality of life after SARS-CoV-2 infection of pregnant women admitted to the "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" Obstetrics-Gynecology Clinical Hospital during the study period
Chapter VII. DISCUSSIONS
Chapter VIII. CONCLUSIONS
Chapter IX. PRACTICAL APPLICABILITY OF THE STUDY. PERSONAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Appendix 1 – SUMMARY OF THESIS



Preface

COVID-19 has created huge challenges in the world's medical system. All health systems are vulnerable and there are practical steps that all countries can take, not only to increase the available resources, but also to ensure the ability to adapt and use these resources differently, in the most varied scenarios.

The ability of the healthcare system to transform and evolve is essential in meeting longterm structural challenges. It draws on the core functions of the health system: governance, financing, resource generation and service delivery, and organizes its findings around a set of strategies that policymakers can use to strengthen the resilience of their health systems.

COVID-19 has caused unprecedented disruption in the way healthcare is delivered and received. Changes include decreases in in-person healthcare visits, delays in diagnosis and initiation of treatment, use of telemedicine, and changes in treatments and their monitoring.

The psychological and behavioral impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the health environment is only now emerging.

In Obstetrics-Gynecology, perhaps more than in other specializations, we address a population of women who are as strong as they are vulnerable, namely pregnant women. Under this impetus, this thesis was developed, trying to capture the mother-fetus dyad in a difficult period for all of humanity.

In the beginning of the doctoral thesis, I included the general part, which represents the current state of knowledge extracted from published studies and specialized literature. Being a subject in continuous development and debate, I tried to capture all aspects of the SARS-CoV-2 infection and its impact on the obstetric population.

The special part represents a prospective study that captures the maternal-fetal complications through the prism of the clinical and paraclinical parameters studied and, last but not least, it aims at the quality of life of these patients. The first chapter of the special part is represented by a short introduction, followed by the Purpose and objectives of the research. The research methodology (Chapter V) includes a set of tools used in the realization of this thesis.

Chapter VI is the largest and most complex and is composed of the results of the research program carried out for the elaboration of this thesis. The results are structured in sub-chapters according to the particularities studied, so as to answer all the objectives the work.

Chapter VII includes the Discussions that create a parallel between the doctoral thesis and the specialized literature, going through the main aspects addressed in the paper. Similarities between the obtained results are outlined and different aspects are emphasized.

In Chapter VIII, the Conclusions are drawn, as a synthesis of the most important results obtained. Last but not least, the elements of novelty and personal contribution are taking shape.



At the end of this stage in my life, at the end of the research activity within the Doctoral School, I have the honor to thank everyone who took part in this long process. Under the guidance of Prof. Dr. Marius Alexandru MOGA, I managed to carry out the entire research activity, the advice and indications given by him being a real landmark, for which I thank him. With deep respect, I would like to thank Mr. Prof. Dr. Aurel MIRONESCU, without whom the beginning of this research activity would not have been possible. I also thank the guidance committee, Conf. Univ. Dr. Costin Vlad ANASTASIU and Dr. Med. Petrina Rossana APOSTU, for the advice given throughout the development of the thesis and last but not least to the thesis evaluation committee, for the effort to evaluate my thesis.

I would like to thank the Transilvania University of Braşov and especially the Doctoral School for accepting me in the doctoral program and for the chance to complete this research.

Special thanks to my family who have supported me unconditionally throughout this journey. And last but not least, I want to thank my colleagues who supported me in creating this study.



Transilvania University of Brasov

GENERAL PART



Chapter I. INTRODUCTION

The novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 was first reported in December 2019 in Wuhan City, Hubei Province, China. Doctors noted cases of pneumonia of unknown origin, which were later characterized as being caused by a new betacoronavirus. (Pedersen & Ho, 2020) Within months, SARS-CoV-2 has become a global emergency resulting in a wide spectrum of diseases, from asymptomatic infections to severe respiratory failure. The disease caused by SARS-CoV-2 was named COVID-19.

SARS-CoV-2 is an enveloped single-stranded RNA (genome size of 30 kb), consisting of four structural proteins (spike surface glycoprotein, coat protein, membrane protein and nucleocapsid protein) and non-structural proteins that are active targets of ongoing vaccine research. (Tung Thanh Le, 2020) (Ahmed et al., 2020) SARS-CoV-2 has over 80% similarity to SARS-CoV 4, 5, 6 which caused an outbreak in 2002 and shares 50% sequence similarity from the Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS) that caused an outbreak in 2012. (H. Wang et al., 2020) The mortality rate of SARS-CoV-2 is low compared to SARS and MERS; however, about 1% of infected people develop severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) that requires a critical level of care. While the routes of transmission of SARS-CoV-2 remain under active investigation, the predominant methods are currently believed to be via aerosols and from surfaces. (Pedersen & Ho, 2020) Although much of the world is focused on the lethal respiratory effects of COVID-19, particularly in the elderly, emerging information suggests that COVID-19 puts young women and their children at increased risk for pregnancy complications. For example, in the majority of studies that included pregnant women infected with COVID-19, nearly 50% of them gave birth prematurely, and infected women had higher rates of pre-eclampsia and premature rupture of membranes than women without uninfected. (D. Di Mascio et al., 2020) (Zaigham & Andersson, 2020) Whether this virus can be transmitted vertically during pregnancy remains under investigation; however, its presence in the placenta and breast milk has already been documented in several recent studies. (Algarroba et al., 2020; Hosier et al., 2020) (Bastug et al., 2020; Khalil et al., 2020) The mechanisms underlying the effects of COVID-19 on pregnant women are also unknown and are under investigation.

Physiological changes that occur during pregnancy, including changes in immunity, can increase susceptibility to viral infections. In addition, the immature innate and adaptive immune system of the developing fetus makes them highly susceptible to infection with potentially deleterious consequences for fetal and neonatal brain development and function. Given the rapid spread of SARS-CoV-2 globally, it is important to understand the immediate and long-term risks of the virus to the mother-child dyad.



Chapter II. CURRENT STATE OF KNOWLEDGE REGARDING SARS COV 2 INFECTION

II.1. History and epidemiology

Humans have witnessed three deadly pandemics so far in the 21st century that are associated with novel coronaviruses: SARS, Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS), and COVID-19. All these viruses, which are responsible for causing acute respiratory tract infections, are highly contagious in nature with high mortality. The newly emerging disease COVID-19 is a highly transmissible viral infection caused by another novel zoonotic coronavirus called severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). Similar to the other two coronaviruses, such as SARS-CoV-1 and MERS-CoV, SARS-CoV-2 is likely to have originated from bats, which have served as stable reservoirs for various coronaviruses. Although it is not yet known how SARS-CoV-2 is transmitted from bats to humans, rapid human-to-human transmission has been widely confirmed. The disease first appeared in Wuhan, China in December 2019 and quickly spread across the globe, infecting 48,539,872 people and causing 1,232,791 deaths in 215 countries, and the infection is still spreading. (Khan et al., 2020)

The origin of COVID-19 is believed to be a wholesale seafood market in Hunan, which also sells various types of wild animals, including snakes, birds, bats, rabbits and frogs, etc. Sequence analysis of different coronavirus species revealed that SARS-CoV-2 is a recombined virus between the bat coronavirus and a coronavirus from an unknown source, which is suspected to be the pangolin. (Zheng, 2020) After the official declaration of the novel SARS-CoV-2 as a potential cause of the outbreak of COVID-19 in Wuhan, China, the most critical question in the minds of governments and public health officials was the possibility that SARS-CoV -2 to cause a global pandemic. A pandemic affects various aspects of health systems and requires extensive planning regarding supply, availability of human resources and ensuring the sustainability of the health system throughout the epidemic. (J. T. Wu et al., 2020) Moreover, drastic measures were needed to limit the pandemic. For example, implementing strict social distancing and mobility restrictions, such as closing schools, public offices, gardens, etc. and strict travel advisories/bans, which seriously disrupt social and economic stability.

As of March 10, over 48,000 confirmed cases and ~3,000 deaths have been reported across the globe. Finally, the WHO declared COVID-19 as a pandemic on March 11, 2020. (Whitworth, 2020) In particular, after March 15, there was a sharp increase in the number of infected cases and the death rate, and by at the end of March, the number of confirmed people rose to over 640,000 and the death rate exceeded >18%. Initially, the largest number of cases were reported in China; however, by mid-March, Europe had more cases than anywhere else in the world, while cases of COVID had spread to more than 160 countries and territories involving six continents. So far, ministries of health, public health organizations, medical research centers



and other health agencies around the world have worked tirelessly to minimize the threat of this massive pandemic. However, not only has it proven to be a medical emergency, but it will be considered one of the greatest human tragedies after the Second World War. It has severely affected economic activities and had huge socio-economic effects with far-reaching implications for global trade, travel and supply chains, thus greatly disrupting the daily lives of people across the globe.

II.2. Structure of the SARS-COV 2 virus

The Coronavirus Study Group of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses has classified coronaviruses in the family Coronaviridae, subfamily Coronavirinae. Based on genotypic and serological characterization, Coronavirinae is divided into 4 genera: Alphacoronavirus, Betacoronavirus, Gammacoronavirus and Deltacoronavirus. (Cui et al., 2019; Fung & Liu, 2019; Woo et al., 2012) Only 6 HCoV species that cause human disease were known before December 2019. Four of them cause common cold symptoms in immunocompromised individuals: these are HCoV-229E and HCoV-OC43, first identified in the mid-1960s (Hamre & Procknow, 1966; Kahn & McIntosh, 2005; Tyrrell & Bynoe, 1966); HCoV-NL63, first identified in 2004 (Fouchier et al., 2004; van der Hoek et al., 2004); and HCoV-HKU1, first identified in 2005. (Lau et al., 2006) The other 2 strains, which cause fatal disease, are SARS-CoV, first identified in 2003, and MERS-CoV, first identified in 2012. (Holmes, 2003; Zaki et al., 2012) SARS-CoV-2 has 96% of its nucleotide sequence identical to bat coronavirus RaTG13, a SARS-like coronavirus, therefore belongs to the genera Betacoronavirus.

The SARS-CoV-2 genome contains 4 structural proteins that are responsible for virushost cell receptor binding, virion assembly, morphogenesis and release of virus particles from the host cell. The SARS-CoV-2 E protein is the smallest of all the structural proteins found in the viral membrane and localizes to the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi complex in host cells. (Nieto-Torres et al., 2011) Protein E, together with M and N, is known to facilitate the formation of virus-like particles. Glycoprotein M is a transmembrane protein located in the viral membrane and is the most abundant structural protein in a virion, nearly one hundred times more abundant than protein E. Protein M plays a major role in viral assembly along with proteins E and N. (Siu et al., 2008; Vennema et al., 1996; Voss et al., 2006)The N protein is responsible for packaging the viral genome RNA (gRNA) into a helical ribonucleocapsid (RNP). SARS-CoV-2 also has 8 subgenomic RNA-derived accessory proteins: 3a, 3b, 6, 7a, 7b, 8b, 9b, and orf14, and they are distributed between structural genes. (C. Wang et al., 2020; A. Wu et al., 2020; Zumla et al., 2016)

Coronaviruses use an RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) complex for genome replication and transcription of their genes. (Snijder et al., 2016) The SARS-CoV-2 RdRp complex is composed of a catalytic subunit nsp12 and two accessory subunits nsp7 and nsp8, which increase the binding and processivity of the RdRp template. (Subissi et al., 2014)



The S protein is a multifunctional molecular machine that plays key roles in the early stages of viral infection by interacting with host susceptibility factors, including receptors and proteases.

S proteins are clove-shaped type I transmembrane proteins and have 3 segments: a large ectodomain, a single-pass transmembrane, and an intracellular tail. The ectodomain of S proteins consists of the S1 subunit, which contains a receptor binding domain (RBD), and the membrane fusion subunit (S2). The recognition of the host cell receptor by the RBD on S proteins is the initial step of viral infection, and the binding interactions between the coronavirus tip and its receptor is one of the most critical factors for host cell and interspecies transmission. Human coronaviruses recognize a variety of host receptors; specifically, HCoV-229E recognizes human aminopeptidase N (hAPN) (Wentworth & Holmes, 2001), MERS-CoV binds to dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP4) (Raj et al., 2013), HCoV-OC43 and HCoV- HKU1 binds certain types of Oacetylated sialic acid (Hulswit et al., 2019), and HCoV-NL63 and SARS-CoV recognize angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2). (Li et al., 2003) Recent structures together with functional studies have suggested that SARS-CoV-2 S proteins use ACE2 and transmembrane serine protease type 2 (TMPRSS2) for host cell entry, which are very similar to the mechanisms exploited by SARS-CoV. (Hoffmann et al., 2020) S proteins, common among all coronaviruses, are a major target for eliciting antibodies; therefore, structural and molecular details of the S protein and its interactions with cognate receptors would be vital in the development of vaccines and antiviral drugs against SARS-CoV-2.1

II.3. Diagnostic methods of the COVID-19 virus

For more than two years, COVID-19 has spread rapidly in many countries, attracting global attention because the infection can be fatal. (Zhou et al., 2021) The coronavirus belongs to the coronaviridae family (Zhang et al., 2020b). Genome sequencing of the novel coronavirus isolated from patients' bronchoalveolar lavage fluids revealed 96% and 80% similarities to the genomes of bat coronavirus RaTG13 and severe acute respiratory syndrome virus (SARS-CoV), respectively. (Lu et al., 2020) This coronavirus is known as SARS-CoV-2.

Thanks to the development of molecular biology technologies, molecular diagnostic methods have developed rapidly. Among them, polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based tests are considered the gold standard for virus detection due to their high sensitivity and specificity. (Shen et al., 2020) However, PCR-based detection has many limitations, such as the need for a high-purity sample, expensive laboratory equipment, specialist training, and long reaction time. (V. M. Corman et al., 2020) Other molecular diagnostic methods such as clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) and gene sequencing have the same drawbacks. Therefore, researchers have sought to develop alternative diagnostic methods, such as protein



testing and computed tomography. Each method has its own advantages, but also some limitations.

II.4. Symptoms of COVID-19 in pregnant women

Pregnant women do not appear to be more or less likely to contract the infection than the general population. (Docherty et al., 2020) The multinational INTERCOVID study of unvaccinated women showed that pregnant women with pre-existing diabetes, obesity and insulin-requiring gestational diabetes were significantly more likely to contract SARS-CoV-2 infection compared to pregnant women without these comorbidities. Women with diabetes have an almost double risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection (RR 1.94, 95% CI 1.55–2.42), overweight and obese women have a 20% increased risk (RR 1.20, 95% Cl 1.06–1.37) and women who

(RR 1.79, 95% CI 1.06-3.01). (Eskenazi et al., 2021)

Most pregnant women who are infected with SARS-CoV-2 are asymptomatic. The PregCOV-19 Systematic Review (John Allotey et al., 2020) created a report on universal screening during pregnancy and found that approximately 73% (95% CI 62–82) of women were asymptomatic, while another US study reported that 86% of women admitted to labor who tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 were asymptomatic. (Reale et al., 2021) Most symptomatic women experience only mild or moderate cold/flu symptoms. The PregCOV-19 systematic review (John Allotey et al., 2020) included more than 64,000 pregnant women worldwide with suspected or confirmed COVID-19. In this review the overall rate of diagnosis of COVID-19 in pregnant women were admitted to hospital for any other reason was 10%. The most common symptoms were dyspnoea (14%), myalgia (15%), loss of taste (11%) and diarrhea (6%).

Pregnant women with COVID-19 were less likely to have fever or myalgia than nonpregnant women compared to age-matched women. The PRIORITY study (Pregnancy CoRonavirus Outcomes RegiIsTry) an ongoing prospective cohort study of pregnant women in the US found that among the first predominant symptoms in infected women were cough (20%), sore throat (16%), myalgias (12%) and fever (12%). In this group of 594 symptomatic women, a quarter had persistent symptoms 8 weeks or more after onset. (Afshar et al., 2020)

It is currently unclear whether pregnancy will have an impact on the percentage of women who develop prolonged signs and symptoms after an acute SARS-CoV-2 infection, the so-called "long-lasting COVID" or post-COVID-19 state. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) has produced a quick guide highlighting the care of people who develop the long-term effects of COVID. (Knight et al., 2020)



The Omicron variant may be associated with less severe disease than the Delta variant, but is more infectious and likely associated with maternal and neonatal adverse effects, particularly in unvaccinated pregnant women.

In conclusion, it can be stated that:

- Pregnant women without comorbidities have the same risk of contracting the infection as the general population.
- Pregnant women with comorbidities such as pre-existing diabetes, body mass index (BMI) > 25 kg/m2, insulin-requiring gestational diabetes have an increased risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection.
- Most pregnant women who are infected with SARS-CoV-2 are asymptomatic.
- Most symptomatic women have only mild or moderate cold/flu-like symptoms.
- The main symptoms of COVID-19 in pregnancy are cough, fever, sore throat, dyspnea, myalgia, loss of taste and diarrhea.

II.5. The effect of COVID-19 on pregnancy

Preterm birth is the biggest cause of neonatal morbidity and mortality in the UK, with a rate of around 7% of babies born prematurely. The rate of preterm births in women with symptomatic COVID-19 appears to be two to three times higher than the background rate. (D'Onofrio et al., 2013)

The PregCOV-19 systematic review estimated the risk of preterm birth to be approximately 17%. The majority of these preterm births (94%) were iatrogenic. In the original UKOSS study,29 the median gestational age at delivery was 38 weeks' gestation (IQR 36–39 weeks' gestation). (J. Allotey et al., 2020)

Of the women who gave birth, 27% had preterm births: 47% of these were iatrogenic in maternal interest and 15% were iatrogenic in fetal interest. The updated UKOSS study confirmed that preterm birth was more likely for women with COVID-19: 19% of women with symptomatic COVID-19 and 9% of women with asymptomatic COVID-19 gave birth before 37 weeks' gestation. Compared with a cohort of pregnant women without SARS-CoV-2, pregnant women with symptomatic COVID-19 were more likely to deliver before 32 weeks' gestation (adjusted OR [aOR] 3.98, 95% CI 1 .48–10.70) and before 37 weeks of gestation (aOR 1.87, 95% CI 1.23–2.85). (Vousden et al., 2021)

Subsequent studies have confirmed the increased risk of preterm birth in mothers with symptomatic COVID-19 infection. Pregnant women with asymptomatic COVID-19 do not, however, appear to have a significantly increased risk of preterm birth. (Cruz-Lemini et al., 2021)



A published systematic review of 42 studies reported an increased risk of low birth weight (OR 1.89, 95% CI 1.14-3.12) associated with maternal COVID-19 infection and another multinational study reported , also a higher rate of low birth weight (RR 1.58, CI 95% 1.29–1.94) among women infected with COVID-19. This evidence adds to the possibility that maternal infection with COVID-19 causes IUGR. (Villar et al., 2021; Wei et al., 2021)

For children born to women with COVID-19, overall outcomes are favorable, with more than 95% of newborns included in the PregCOV-19 systematic review reporting that they were born well. (J. Allotey et al., 2020) A large US study also reported reassuring results regarding newborns during the pandemic. Of the total of 1481 births, 116 (8%) women (who gave birth to 120 newborns) tested positive for SARS-CoV-2. All 120 newborns were tested at 24 hours of life, none were positive for SARS-CoV-2. Of 79 newborns who were retested for SARS-CoV-2 5–7 days after birth (66% follow-up rate), all tests were negative; 72 newborns were also tested at 14 days, none were positive. None of the newborns had signs of COVID-19. (Salvatore et al., 2020)

Despite more than 100 million confirmed COVID-19 infections worldwide, no increase in the incidence of birth defects has been reported.

There is evidence that COVID-19 infection causes a number of nonspecific placental histological abnormalities, including fetal and maternal vascular changes, malperfusion, chorioamnionitis, acute inflammatory pathology, chronic inflammatory pathology, and intervillous thrombosis. Studies have described specific histological features of placentas associated with cases of stillbirth and late second-trimester miscarriage related to infection with both the Alpha and Delta variants. Severe placental lesions proven in the setting of placental infection with COVID-19, such as trophoblastic necrosis and massive hemorrhage, causing rapid deterioration of placental function have been linked to a number of stillbirths in women infected with COVID-19. (Dubucs et al., 2022; Fitzgerald et al., 2022) In another study, 10 of 50 placentas from unvaccinated, positive, COVID-19 women showed evidence of placental infection. Five of these were associated with stillbirths with severe placental changes, while the remaining five had more focal changes in association with possible IUGR. (Dubucs et al., 2022) Another study showed the same histological findings for placental infection associated with COVID-19 (Alfa variant), which resulted in six stillbirths, all attributable to placental insufficiency, three of which were associated with coagulation abnormalities, and three of them showed reduced fetal movements in the days before birth. (Fitzgerald et al., 2022) Both studies reported that placental changes leading to stillbirth did not correlate with the severity of the woman's COVID-19 symptoms, with most having only mild symptoms. IUGR was not a feature in these cases so these histological changes resulted in rapid placental dysfunction and stillbirth. Therefore, it is possible that severe placental dysfunction may occur relatively suddenly, which appears to be unrelated to the severity of symptoms, but to placental infection with COVID-19. It may be associated with a coagulopathy similar to disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC),



characterized by low platelet count and low fibrinogen, and is strongly associated with a severe perinatal outcome.

There is less data available on the impact of COVID-19 infection on first and second trimester pregnancy loss. A nationwide study in the US reported no increased risk of fetal loss before 20 weeks' gestation due to COVID-19 infection.

Maternal COVID-19 is associated with an increased rate of cesarean deliveries. According to the UKOSS study, 59% of women gave birth by caesarean section; approximately half of these were of maternal or fetal interest. The rest were for obstetric reasons (eg, lack of progression of labor, previous cesarean delivery) or maternal demand (6%). Among women who gave birth by caesarean section, 20% required general anesthesia (GA). About two-thirds of women who had general anesthesia were intubated because of maternal respiratory distress, and the remaining one-third to facilitate emergency delivery. (Knight et al., 2020)

Thus it can be stated that:

- Symptomatic maternal COVID-19 is associated with an increased likelihood of iatrogenic preterm birth.
- Infection with COVID-19 during pregnancy may be associated with an increased incidence of small for gestational age (SGA) infants.
- Neonatal morbidity for children born to women with COVID-19 appears to be related to preterm birth rather than to the COVID-19 infections themselves.
- While stillbirth remains a rare phenomenon, maternal infection with COVID-19 is associated with an increased risk of stillbirth.

II.6. Vaccination of COVID-19 in pregnancy

Background of the COVID-19 vaccine (in the non-pregnant population):

- Phase 3 studies of the four currently approved vaccines evaluated protection against COVID-19 after two of three doses and after a single dose.
- Before the appearance of the Omicron variant of COVID 19:
 - The Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine was 95% (95% CI 90.0–97.9%) effective against symptomatic COVID-19. (F. P. Polack et al., 2020)
 - The Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccine was 66.7% (95% CI 57.4–74.0%) effective against symptomatic COVID-19. (Voysey et al., 2021)
 - The Moderna vaccine had an efficacy of 94.1% (95% Cl 89.3–96.8%). (Baden et al., 2020)
 - The Janssen vaccine had an efficacy of 66.1% (95% CI 55.0–74.8%). (Sadoff et al., 2021)



- Real-world monitoring has confirmed that one dose of Pfizer-BioNTech or Oxford-AstraZeneca Vaccines provides approximately 60% protection against symptomatic COVID-19 (Alpha and Delta variants), however it provides less protection against the Omicron variant. (Bernal et al., 2020)
- Real-world monitoring has confirmed that one dose of Pfizer-BioNTech or Moderna Vaccines confers approximately 75% protection against symptomatic COVID-19 which drops to 25% after 25 weeks. Two doses of the Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccine confer about 45–50% protection against Omicron, which is almost ineffective after 20 weeks. (Agency)
- A booster dose of Pfizer-BioNTech or Moderna gives about 60–75% protection against Omicron, which drops to 25–40% after 15 weeks.
- Vaccination with two doses of Pfizer-BioNTech or Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccines are effective against symptomatic diseases secondary to infection with the Delta variant (Abu-Raddad et al., 2021)
- Those who received two doses and a booster (or three doses) of the vaccine (combined data on Pfizer-BioNTech, Oxford-AstraZeneca and Moderna) are 88% less likely to be hospitalized with the Omicron variant than those who did not was vaccinated. (Agency)
- Women should be informed that influenza vaccination is safe and recommended during pregnancy to protect both the woman and the baby from the adverse effects of serious influenza illness during pregnancy.
- Women can get the COVID-19 and flu shots at the same time.

II.7. Types of vaccines available in Romania

As of February 2022, four COVID-19 vaccines are approved for use in Romania: the PfizerBioNTech vaccine, the Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccine, the Moderna vaccine, the Janssen vaccine.

The Pfizer-BioNTech and Moderna vaccines are messenger RNA (mRNA) vaccines in which the mRNA encoding the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein is injected through a lipid nanoparticle coating. The mRNA does not enter the host cell's nucleus, so it remains separate from the host's DNA. The vaccine mRNA is broken down by the host cell within days.

The Oxford-AstraZeneca and Janssen vaccines are viral vector vaccines in which DNA encoding the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein is injected into a modified adenovirus vector. The adenovirus vector has been modified so that it cannot replicate, and the spike protein is not expressed on the adenovirus itself. Rather, the adenovirus vector serves only to release and introduce protein DNA into the host cell. The host cell then produces the spike protein and this triggers a protective immune response.



Current vaccines against COVID-19 offer a lower degree of protection against Omicron, with the level of protection declining more rapidly in the months after vaccination. (Ren et al., 2022)

However, vaccination protects people against symptomatic coronavirus and decreases hospitalization.

UKHSA data demonstrated the importance of a booster dose for protection against the Omicron variant. For example, a Pfizer-BioNTech or Moderna booster after two initial doses of the Oxford-AstraZeneca or Pfizer BioNTech vaccines increased protection against symptomatic Omicron infection from 0–10% pre-booster protection to 50–80% at one week. Protection levels of approximately 40-70% persisted 10 weeks after the booster dose depending on the exact vaccination regimen administered.

II.8. Placental physiology and interaction with SARS-CoV-2 infection

The role of the placenta in SARS-CoV-2 infection is poorly understood. Although it appears that vertical transmission to the fetus can occur, the mechanisms underlying this type of transmission are uncertain.

The placenta is usually an effective barrier that prevents maternal infection from spreading to the fetus through vertical transmission. It is well recognized that certain pathogens can overcome this barrier and have sometimes devastating effects on the developing pregnancy. (Coyne & Lazear, 2016) Cytomegalovirus (CMV), herpes simplex virus (HSV), varicella-zoster virus and Zika virus (ZIKV) can cause congenital syndromes, with variable rates of transmission and severity, and the effects depend, in part, on age the pregnancy in which the infection occurs. Many of these infections may have only minor effects on the mother, and the correlation between maternal symptomatology and the severity of fetal effects is poorly recognized. The experience of viral infections. First, the presence of virus on the placental surface does not necessarily indicate placental infection—vertical transmission of viruses depends on the occurrence of breaches in the placental barrier. Second, viral infection of placental cells does not necessarily mean that there is transmission to the fetus. Third, even when fetal infection occurs, responses are heterogeneous; thus, fetal infection does not always mean fetal damage.

The human placenta is hemochorial, meaning the maternal blood is in direct contact with the placental chorionic villi. The placenta consists predominantly of cells called trophoblasts, of which there are three main types: multinuclear syncytiotrophoblast cells - line the villus shaft and are in direct contact with maternal blood; villous cytotrophoblast - the cells that form the basis of the syncytiotrophoblast, invasive extravillous cells - trophoblast cells that anchor the chorionic



villi of the uterus and change its vascularity. A number of potential mechanisms may be involved in the vertical transmission of viruses:

- direct damage to the villous shaft, with breaks in the protective syncytiotrophoblast layer;
- viral spread from the infected maternal endothelium to the extravillous trophoblast;
- transport of infected maternal immune cells via syncytiotrophoblast or paracellular or transcellular transport (eg, immunoglobulin-mediated transcytosis) into fetal capillaries;
- ascending infection from the vagina. (Coyne & Lazear, 2016)

There have been a number of case reports examining the placenta of women with COVID-19. SARS-CoV-2 expression was detected in midtrimester placental samples, but it remains unclear whether the presence of the virus was due to the primary infection or was facilitated by placental damage from other pathologies. SARS-CoV-2 was found on RT-PCR and biopsy from a spontaneously aborted fetus at 19 weeks of gestation. (Whittaker et al., 2020) SARS-CoV-2 was also highly detected in placental and umbilical cord biopsies from a pregnancy following termination at 22 weeks of gestation. (Mao et al., 2022) The pregnancy was terminated due to placental abruption and severe maternal preeclampsia with thrombocytopenia and coagulopathy. In this case, electron microscopy revealed virus-like particles in the cytosol of placental cells, however, no viral expression was detected in the fetal tissues tested. In both cases, macrophages infiltrate, and fibrin deposits were observed on placental histology, which the authors attributed to be most likely associated with viral infection. (D. Baud et al., 2020) However, such intervillosis may also be idiopathic, autoimmune, or associated with other infections, and thus may not be related to the presence of SARS-CoV-2. In another case studied, both placental and amniotic fluid positive tests for SARS-CoV-2 were identified. On microscopic examination, the placenta also had evidence of perivillocytic fibrin deposition with infarcts and intervillosis. In this case, the newborn tested positive on nasal and rectal tests, and required NICU for respiratory support. (Vivanti et al., 2020)

Two other publications report placental histological findings in women with SARS-CoV-2 infection. In another study of placentas from 20 women, they were found to be positive for SARSCoV-2 in routine tests at the time of delivery (32 to 40 weeks gestation), of which 10 placentas showed signs of possible fetal vascular malperfusion or fetal vascular thrombosis. (Baergen & Heller, 2020)

Another study examined placentas from 16 women with SARSCoV-2 infection, 11 of whom were diagnosed near birth and 5 were diagnosed earlier. (Shanes et al., 2020) Placentas were from pregnancies between 16 and 40 weeks' gestation. Twelve of 15 third-trimester placentas were reported to have signs of maternal vascular malperfusion such as villous infarcts, agglutinated villi, or decidual arteriopathy. Histopathological examination was indicated in the context of maternal SARS-CoV-2 infection in most cases, and histological signs of placental vascular malperfusion are somewhat subjective, so these findings should be interpreted with caution. Further research is needed, including standardized examination of placental samples from women with SARS-CoV-2 by pathologists unaware of the mother's infection status. In



addition, these findings should be correlated with the clinical status of the fetus, ideally with long-term follow-up. (Kreis et al., 2020)

II.9. Vertical transmission of SARS-CoV-2

Viral infection of placental cells does not necessarily mean fetal infection or fetal harm. To date, 15 reports include neonatal test results for SARS-CoV-2 (Breslin et al., 2020; R. Chen et al., 2020; Ferrazzi et al., 2020), with positive cases occurring in a number smaller. (Marín Gabriel et al., 2020; N. Yu et al., 2020)

Significant neonatal respiratory disease appears to be rare, even in the presence of a positive test for SARS-CoV-2. It is unclear from PCR-based SARS-CoV-2 test reports whether infection occurs in utero or during labor or delivery; or if transmission occurs from the infected mother or asymptomatic hospital staff. But the availability of antibody tests has provided new evidence that vertical transmission can occur. Some babies born to mothers with COVID-19 have elevated concentrations of both immunoglobulin (Ig) M and IgG to SARS-CoV-2. Although IgG can be passively transferred from mother to fetus in utero, IgM has a higher molecular weight and cannot cross the placenta. Circulating SARS-CoV-2 IgM in the neonate therefore indicates vertical transmission of the virus, although all infants in the reports so far were asymptomatic and tested negative for SARS-CoV-2 viral RNA at birth. (H. Zeng et al., 2020)

The mechanisms of viral invasion of the placenta are not yet clearly established. In the lungs, SARS-CoV-2 uses the ACE2 receptor to enter cells and the serine protease TMPRSS2 is involved in cleaving the spike glycoprotein to allow fusion. Three studies analyzed single-cell RNA sequencing data to determine whether ACE2 + /TMPRSS2 are expressed on placental cells. Li et al. performed a secondary analysis of single-cell transcriptome profiles available from decidua and placenta samples at 6–12 weeks' gestation, with additional data from a previous study of two term placenta samples. (M. Li et al., 2020) ACE2 gene expression has been reported in first trimester decidual stromal and perivascular cells, and villous cytotrophoblast and syncytiotrophoblast in both first trimester and term samples. However, another study using the same data set for the first trimester found only very low expression of ACE2 in placental and decidual cell populations. (L. Zhang et al., 2020)

An additional study looked at human embryos to investigate possible routes of transmission in the first trimester and found ACE2 expression and co-expression of TMPRSS2 in the trophoblast, blastocyst and hypoblast, suggesting that fetal infection via this route is possible. (Weatherbee et al., 2020)

Given the lack of coexpression of ACE2 and TMPRSS2 in the placenta, it therefore seems likely that SARS-CoV-2 enters placental tissues by an alternative mechanism. A number of other proteases have also been implicated. DPP4 and CD147 are both highly expressed in the



placenta throughout gestation and may have a role in cell entry. (Kreis et al., 2020) Furin, trypsin and cathepsins B and L have been shown to have the ability to cleave the peak glycoprotein and bind to the S1/S2 site. In addition, plasmin can cleave this site and has been identified as a possible therapeutic target with tranexamic acid to prevent cell entry. SARS-Cov-2 viral RNA was detected in amniotic fluid in cases of severe maternal disease, although neonatal positivity at birth was variable. (Mao et al., 2022)

Pregnant women infected with SARS-CoV-2 are susceptible to pneumonia and preterm birth before <37 and 34 weeks of gestation, and the risk of miscarriage in early pregnancy may be increased. (D. Di Mascio et al., 2020) (C. Huang et al., 2020; Zaigham & Andersson, 2020) Liu et al., reported that in a cohort of 13 pregnant women infected with COVID-19, nearly 50 % (6/13) gave birth prematurely. (Y. Liu et al., 2020) Zeng et al., described cases of early-onset neonatal infection in a cohort study of 33 pregnant women in Wuhan with confirmed SARS-CoV-2 and identified the infection status and clinical course of newborns. Of the 33 newborns, 3 tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 and had symptoms of COVID-19, including fever, respiratory distress syndrome, or difficulty breathing. All three neonates were delivered by caesarean section due to uncertain fetal status. This study concluded that, given the strict infection control and SARS-CoV-2 IgM. The presence of IgM suggested maternal-fetal transmission of antibodies, but the child did not develop any symptoms of COVID-19. (L. Zeng et al., 2020) A systematic review and meta-analysis that analyzed data from 17 studies, including 2567 pregnancies, identified the most common causes of SARS-CoV-2 infection as preterm birth iatrogenic and cesarean delivery. The incidence of perinatal deaths was observed to be less than 1% (12 stillbirths and 4 neonatal deaths), and 1%–2% of newborns were positive for SARS-CoV-2. (Khalil et al., 2020)

However, other studies have concluded that there is no evidence of vertical transmission. For example, one study demonstrated that in a cohort of 9 women who were confirmed to have COVID-19 pneumonia, no children tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 via amniotic fluid, umbilical cord blood, throat or breast milk. (Juan et al., 2020) (H. Chen et al., 2020) Another study with 38 pregnant women infected with SARS-CoV-2 in the third trimester of pregnancy reported no maternal deaths or cases of vertical transmission to newborn after testing all neonatal samples and some placentas for SARS-CoV-2. (Schwartz, 2020) Huntley et al., reviewed 13 studies comprising 538 pregnancies and reported neonatal death in 0.3% (1/313) of newborns and no vertical transmission. (Huntley et al., 2020) Chen et al., reported a 20% incidence of preterm birth in 118 pregnancies, but no vertical transmission. (Huntley et al., 2020) The preponderance of evidence so far does not indicate a significant role for vertical transmission, but it remains a goal to understand the impact of COVID-19 on maternal morbidity and mortality.



II.10. Immunology of COVID-19 in pregnancy

Pregnancy is an immunological condition in which the semi-allogeneic fetus grows in the mother's womb. The immunologic milieu during pregnancy changes as the pregnancy initially shifts through Th1 (pro-inflammatory response) during the first trimester, then shifts to Th2 (antiinflammatory response) by the second trimester and polarizes again to a Th1 phenotype at the end of the third trimester simultaneously with the onset of labor. (Mor et al., 2017) In addition, the number of immune cells also varies during pregnancy, with a higher prevalence of innate immune cells (NK cells, monocytes) than adaptive immune cells (fewer B and T cells). (Mor et al., 2017) SARS-CoV-2 infection appears to induce a reduction in the number of lymphocytes compared to inflammatory monocytes, which could induce a cytokine storm leading to acute respiratory distress syndrome and multi- - systemic organs. (Villar et al., 2019) (Channappanavar & Perlman, 2017) In support of this hypothesis, plasma from severely infected COVID-19 patients showed increased levels of interleukins (IL-2, IL-6, IL-7 and IL-10), granulocyte colonystimulating factor (GCSF), interferon- γ -inducible protein 10 (IP-10 or CXCL10), monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1), macrophage inflammatory protein 1 alpha (MIP-1a) and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α). (Channappanavar & Perlman, 2017; C. Huang et al., 2020; Tetro, 2020) High level of TNF- α during pregnancy is associated with defects in early embryo development. (Yockey & Iwasaki, 2018) (Fried et al., 2017) A recent systematic review identified elevated C-reactive protein (CRP) in most pregnant women positive for COVID-19. (Juan et al., 2020) Taken together, the cytokine storm (pro-inflammatory cytokines) induced by SARS-CoV-2 could put pregnant women at greater risk by causing an increased proinflammatory state with the potential to affect brain development fetal, thus increasing the risk of autism, mental health disorders or schizophrenia. (Mor et al., 2017) (Al-Haddad et al., 2019) (Shi et al., 2005)

Currently, there are no reported studies on the interactions of decidual immune cells with SARS-CoV-2, but there are studies on the effect of SARS-CoV-2 on peripheral blood leukocytes. A key difference observed in peripheral blood leukocytes in those with severe symptoms of COVID-19 compared to those with mild symptoms was a decrease in IFN- γ and TNF- α in CD4+ T cells in the severe symptoms group. In addition, increased levels of granzyme B and perforin were observed in CD8+ T cells. (Zheng et al., 2020) This study also found an increase in CD8+ T cell depletion in the severe group, suggesting that CD8+ T cell depletion may affect patients' ability to mount an adequate immune response to SARS-CoV- 2. (F. Wang et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2020) Associated lymphopenia in patients with confirmed SARS-CoV-2 has also been widely reported. (D. Wang et al., 2020) Whether there is an alteration of decidual NK cell or T cell populations at the maternal-fetal interface in COVID-19-positive placentas remains to be determined.



II.11. Immunological mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 infection on pregnancy loss

II.11.1. SARS-CoV-2 infection

The SARS-CoV-2 virus is a positive-strand enveloped RNA virus. There are approximately 29 different viral proteins identified; the most important are the nucleocapsid (N), membrane (M), spike (S) and envelope (E) proteins. The capsid was formed outside the genome by the N protein, and the genome is further wrapped by an envelope associated with structural proteins (M protein, S protein, and E protein). (M. Y. Wang et al., 2020) Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) is the host receptor for SARS-CoV-2 cell entry. S proteins are evenly distributed on the surface of the virus, allowing greater interaction with ACE2. After binding to ACE2, cellular transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2), located on the host cell membrane, promotes virus entry into the cell by activating protein S. (M. Y. Wang et al., 2020)

Initially, SARS-CoV-2 infects nasal epithelial cells and then spreads to bronchial epithelium and alveolar type II epithelial cells, which express ACE2 and TMPRSS2. After reaching pneumocytes, in moderate/severe forms of COVID-19, intense viral replication occurs, triggering local and systemic immune responses. (M. Y. Wang et al., 2020) Transmission and severity of COVID-19 appear to be related to viral load in the upper and lower respiratory tract, respectively. (Cevik et al., 2021) Typically, viral respiratory pneumonia with critical hypoxemia is the most common clinical manifestation of severe COVID-19. During the acute phase of the disease, COVID-19 usually affects other organs, either directly or through systemic complications of the intense pulmonary inflammatory response known as cytokine storm. (M. Y. Wang et al., 2020)

II.11.2. Effects of SARS-CoV-2 infection during pregnancy

Studies have shown that a variety of extrapulmonary organs are potential targets for SARS-CoV-2. In addition, ACE2 proteins are expressed in various organs such as the heart, kidney, liver, digestive tract, and brain. (Dong et al., 2020) For decades, researchers have described the expression of ACE2 and TMPRSS2 in the endometrium, embryo, and various cell types of the human placenta, including syncytiotrophoblast, cytotrophoblast, invasive and intravascular trophoblast, decidual cells, vascular smooth muscle of primary villi and arterial and venous umbilical endothelium. (Valdés et al., 2006a; Vaz-Silva et al., 2009; Weatherbee et al., 2020) Recently, ACE2 and TMPRSS2 expression was detected in the human trophectoderm in early embryos as well as in all three trimesters of pregnancy. (Cui et al., 2021) On the other hand, ACE2 and TMPRSS2 expression was negatively correlated with gestational age, with ACE2 and TMPRSS2 being highly expressed in first-trimester trophoblast tissues and poorly expressed or undetectable in third-trimester placenta. (Bloise et al., 2021)



Therefore, the preconception and early pregnancy uterine environments are potentially vulnerable to SARS-CoV-2 infection. Thus, the appearance of COVID-19 in the periconceptional period can increase the risk of spontaneous abortion.

The renin-angiotensin system (RAS) is composed of a set of peptides, enzymes and receptors involved in the pregnancy process. RAS components are distributed throughout the uteroplacental unit. Angiotensinogen, renin, ACE, angiotensin I, angiotensin II, and angiotensin receptors (type 1 and type 2) are found in the placenta, uterus (endometrium and myometrium), fetal membranes, and amniotic fluid. In early pregnancy, high estrogen levels stimulate hepatic production of angiotensinogen, thereby increasing plasma and uterine levels. Studies have shown that RAS changes are linked to obstetric complications such as preeclampsia. (Anton & Brosnihan, 2008; Qi et al., 2020)

ACE2 and TMPRSS2 are highly expressed in human endometrial stromal cells during the secretory phase and are required for decidualization of human endometrial stromal cells. (Vaz-Silva et al., 2009) In addition, ACE2 is also an important component of the human placental renin-angiotensin system (RAS), which is upregulated in the first trimester and is involved in endometrial neovascularization during the peri- implantation as well as in placental development. (Qi et al., 2020) During pregnancy, placental RAS expression is decreased. When women with recurrent miscarriage were compared with fertile women, the expression of RAS components was found to be dysregulated. (Qi et al., 2020) The SARS-CoV-2-ACE2 complex negatively regulates ACE2, leading to a decrease in plasma angiotensin-(1–7) levels, which in turn potentiates vasoconstriction and the hypercoagulable state, contributing to reproductive failure and other obstetric complications. (Narang et al., 2020)

II.12. SARS-CoV-2 infection and pregnancy loss

Increased risk of embryo implantation failure and miscarriage has been reported in the periconceptional period in women with COVID-19. It was speculated that the reproductive failure was due to systemic inflammation and interference with trophectoderm-endometrium molecular signaling, rather than a direct action of SARS-CoV-2 at the implantation site. (Sills & Wood, 2020)

The immunopathology of COVID-19, accompanied by high levels of IL-6, IL-8, TNFalpha and other cytokines, would lead to imbalanced Th1/Th2 immune responses. Consequently, the "cytokine storm" of COVID-19 induces a hypercoagulable state that is detrimental to normal blastocyst/fetus development in utero (toxic endometrial microenvironment and hypoperfusion secondary to microthrombi formation), as well as an unfavorable uterine immune response to embryo implantation . (Sills & Wood, 2020) Indeed, abnormalities of the maternal immune response during periimplantation and early pregnancy, with a predominant proinflammatory



response (Th1 and Th17) and thrombophilic states have been linked to recurrent implantation failure and miscarriage. (Kwak-Kim et al., 2014; H. Liu et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2010)

SARS-CoV-2 has been found in various body fluids, including blood, cerebrospinal fluid, pericardial fluid, pleural fluid, urine, semen, saliva, and eye tissues. (Bora et al., 2020; Chang et al., 2020; Farina et al., 2020; Y. H. Huang et al., 2020; Mei et al., 2020; Moriguchi et al., 2020; W. Wang et al. , 2020) plasma SARS-CoV-2 RNA was detected in 27% of hospitalized participants and 13% of outpatients with COVID-19. In addition, the viral load (measured by a nasopharyngeal swab, oropharyngeal saliva or aspirate, or endotracheal plasma) of patients with COVID-19 was associated with disease severity (worse severity of respiratory disease, lower absolute lymphocyte counts, and increased markers of inflammation, including C-reactive protein and IL-6) and mortality. (Fajnzylber et al., 2020) Although the dynamics of SARS-CoV-2 during the active phase of the disease remains to be elucidated, endometrial, decidual and placental infection is possible through hematological spread of SARS-CoV-2. Indeed, placental SARS-CoV-2 infection has been described by molecular and immunohistochemical tests as well as by electron microscopy. The presence of SARS-CoV-2 was confirmed in a 22-week placenta, being located primarily on syncytiotrophoblast cells at the maternal-fetal interface. (Hosier et al., 2020)

According to a recent meta-analysis by Sharps et al., studies on placental morphological changes observed in pregnant women diagnosed with COVID-19 are mainly performed in the third trimester. SARS-CoV-2 was found in 21% of placental samples from COVID-19 cases. Maternal vascular malperfusion (46% of cases), fetal vascular malperfusion (35.3% of cases) and signs of placental inflammation were the most common pathologies of affected placentas. Other placental changes seen in second- and third-trimester placentas include fibrin deposition, infarction, and vascular and intervillous thrombosis. (Sharps et al., 2020) Placental changes are more common in severe cases of COVID-19, but have also been reported in patients with mild form of COVID-19 and even in asymptomatic cases. (Ferraiolo et al., 2020)

In August 2020, a case study of a 26-year-old first-trimester pregnant woman with a live baby and a history of first-trimester miscarriage was published. In the eighth week of pregnancy, she presented with COVID-19 infection. Ultrasound evaluation revealed a fetal death at 13 weeks of gestation (appropriate in size at 10 weeks and 5 days). Virus was detected in first-trimester cytotrophoblast and syncytiotrophoblast 6 weeks after virus was detected in the respiratory tract, although the repeated throat test was negative. The fetus had extensive bilateral pleural effusion and subcutaneous edema, indicating hydrops fetalis. Moreover, SARS-CoV-2 was found in amniotic fluid (by RT-PCR) and fetal membranes (by immunofluorescence of spike proteins). Histopathology of the placenta revealed prominent avascular villi with extensive perivascular fibrin deposition, local syncytiotrophoblast lysis, extensive decidual fibrin deposition, and large, dilated blood vessels. The presence of large numbers of leukocytes, including polymorphonuclear leukocytes, in the decidual bed and intervillous space indicated widespread inflammation. (Shende et al., 2021)



Subsequently, a spontaneous abortion of a twin pregnancy at 13 weeks' gestation in a 28year-old woman with mild form of COVID-19 was reported. Fetal SARS-CoV-2 infection was confirmed using PCR, immunofluorescence, and viral replication in fetal organs (lungs and kidneys) and placenta, which was consistent with in utero transmission of SARS-CoV-2. (Valdespino-Vázquez et al., 2021)

Therefore, based on data from the current literature, infection with SARS-CoV-2 in the preconception period and in the first half of pregnancy may increase the risk of spontaneous abortion. According to immunopathological mechanisms, reproductive failure is caused by a proinflammatory maternal immune response (systemic and/or uterine), thromboembolic events or a direct action of the virus in the uterine environment (endometrium, decidua and trophoblast) (Fig. 1). Moreover, the risk seems to be higher in patients with the severe form of COVID-19, but also in asymptomatic women.



Transilvania University of Brasov

THE SPECIAL PART



Chapter III. INTRODUCTION

The pandemic infection COVID 19 was born at the beginning of 2020, spreading rapidly in Romania. The number of cases increased, and in a short time the entire medical system went through radical changes, adapting to the new reality. The Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" was no exception, and the measures taken aimed at the safety of the medical staff and the well-being of hospitalized patients and newborn children.

In this sense, with the restructuring and rearrangement of the wards, the testing of all hospitalized patients and the thorough investigation of patients diagnosed with SARS-Cov-2 infection became mandatory. Thus, a routine was created in the performance of blood tests, such as the blood count, coagulation tests, biochemistry and last but not least, the investigation of lung function through X-rays or computer tomography.

Pregnant women have a higher susceptibility to respiratory pathogens due to the anatomical and physiological adaptive changes of the respiratory system that occur during pregnancy, and these viral infections can induce pregnancy complications.

All these data led to the creation of this study, the data of these patients being valuable from the point of view of the knowledge of this new virus, but also of other possible pandemics.

The quality of life of the medical staff has changed considerably in order to continue providing medical services at the highest standards.

It is worth mentioning that during the pandemic, colossal material and medical resources were consumed, which later became a burden for the structures dealing with waste management.



Chapter IV. THE PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH

SARS-COV-2 is a new infection with a major impact on the entire world map, quickly becoming one of the pandemics that will mark the history of the world. The data on this virus is still under investigation.

In this study, I propose to illustrate data regarding the real incidence of patients who were diagnosed with COVID-19 during pregnancy and were hospitalized in the Clinical Hospital of Obstetrics and Gynecology "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" Braşov.

I also propose to emphasize the main maternal-fetal complications that occurred during the three trimesters of pregnancy and the obstetrical conduct applied in order to solve them as efficiently as possible. At the end, I will compare the obtained results with the data published in the specialized literature up to the present moment.

The aim of this thesis is to develop a management strategy for pregnant women with Sars-Cov-2 infection diagnosed during pregnancy who develop maternal or fetal complications or not. Given that in Romania there is no such elaborate synthesis of obstetric patients, this thesis could serve as a landmark in the creation of a national guide.

The specific objectives of this work are the following:

- Epidemiological data analysis of patients who were diagnosed with Covid-19 infection, maternal demographic factors, socio-economic status, pregnancy and birth management method, severity of the developed form and vertical transmission
- Establishing new optimal management schemes applied during pregnancy that could improve its evolution
- Elaboration of correct obstetric conduct to decrease the number of maternal-fetal complications
- Analysis of epidemiological data through the lens of maternal-fetal complications that occurred during the pandemic
- Establishing potential links between the risk factor of COVID 19 and the multiple complications occurring at various times during pregnancy (trimester I, trimester II, trimester II) and at the time of birth
- Emphasizing some aspects aimed at the quality of life of patients during the pandemic through the lens of measures to combat the SARS-Cov-2 virus
- Analysis of the cost-benefit ratio in the management of pregnant women with SARS-CoV-2 infection
- Highlighting the weight of Sars-Cov-2 infection in the occurrence of feto-maternal complications



Chapter V. RESEARCH MATERIAL AND METHOD

The research was carried out in the Clinical Hospital of Obstetrics and Gynecology "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" Brașov. This was based on a prospective study carried out over a period of 2 years and 3 months (01.01.2020-08.03.2022).

The design of the study involved a cohort, longitudinal, prospective research, which included the population of pregnant women hospitalized during the period mentioned above. (Figure V-1)

The formation of the initial cohort consisted of the selection of all hospitalized patients between 01.01.2020 and 03.08.2022, regardless of the hospitalization diagnosis. About 10 thousand patients were hospitalized. To create the study group, the following inclusion criteria were applied:

- Pregnant patients in trimester I, II, or III
- Patients transferred from other hospital units diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2 infection
- Patients who are not in evidence with mental illnesses
- Patients who have reached the age of 16
- We used the following exclusion criteria:
- Patients who have not reached the age of 16 at the time of admission
- Patients who are known to have psychiatric diseases.

After passing the patients through these filters, an initial cohort consisting of two groups resulted: a group of patients diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2 infection, numbering 555, and respectively a control group of 287 pregnant women who did not have a positive COVID-19 test at admission or throughout the study period.

Virus detection techniques were used to diagnose patients with COVID 19 infection. The first technique consisted of a rapid test for the qualitative detection of IgG and IgM antibodies to SARS-CoV-2 in human whole blood, serum and plasma samples. (Figure V-1) The second technique carried out consisted in the detection of SARS-CoV-2 Viral RNA through a Real Time - PCR device, which uses a technique to amplify the viral genetic material, being a specific test for detecting the infection.



Figure V-1. Study design



Study Design

The data necessary for the realization of this thesis were recorded and extracted from the clinical and paraclinical observation sheets of the patients, from the birth registers, from the intensive therapy sheets and from the imaging examination bulletins, to the extent of their inclusion in the present study. The data were analyzed differently for the obtained results, being later compared with the data from the specialized literature. The study thus generated 2 groups of patients, as follows:

- Lot "Exposed" to the risk factor, assumed in the research hypothesis (diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2 infection), represented by pregnant patients, in the I, II, or III trimester of pregnancy, admitted to the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" Braşov
- A control group of patients, "not exposed" to the risk factor assumed in the research hypothesis (who were not diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2 infection), pregnant, in the I, II, or III trimester during the hospitalization.

The effects pursued by the researcher (outcomes) were represented by the appearance in both groups of classic feto-maternal complications as follows:



Transilvania University of Brasov

a. Maternal complications:

- Premature birth
- Premature rupture of membranes
- First trimester spontaneous abortion
- Second trimester spontaneous abortion
- Stopping the pregnancy from progressing
- Threat of abortion
- Coagulation disorders (including DIC)
- Hepatic cytolysis syndrome
- Inflammatory syndrome
- Premature detachment of a normally inserted placenta

b. Fetal complications

- Intrauterine fetal death
- Prematurity
- Acute and chronic fetal distress (ICU)
- SARS-CoV-2 infection

The final results related to the observed effects were quantified at the end of the study and were made concrete by their tabular expression in relation to the studied lots.

From an epidemiological point of view, classical parameters related to risks, such as RR and RA, were calculated. For these, in the statistical analysis compartment, estimates were made using the 95% CI.

The descriptive statistics stage concretized the exposure from an epidemiological point of view of the biological data of the patients, taken from the conditions of birth and from the observation sheets.

Later, for processing, they were entered into a common database, made with the help of the Microsoft Excel program. To create this database, the following biomedical parameters were tracked and recorded for each individual case:

- 1. data about the mother: mother's age, origin, number of pregnancies and births, gestational age, laboratory analyzes and imaging;
- 2. data regarding the Covid 19 infection: symptomatology, severity of the disease, treatment, need for admission to the Intensive Care Unit;
- 3. birth and fetus data: gestational age at which the birth occurred, type of birth, weight of the fetus at birth, Apgar score, infection of the newborn;



V.1.1. Quality of life study in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection

In order to evaluate the impact of SARS-CoV-2 infection on the quality of life, we created a questionnaire with questions aimed at assessing the general evolution, psycho-emotional damage, the perception of the changes caused by the viral infection, as well as the assessment of intra-hospital measures to combat the transmission of the virus. The questionnaire was sent in digital format to pregnant women who were hospitalized in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr. I. A. Sbârcea", Brașov, in the period March 2020 - March 2022, and the results include the answers of the people who responded to the request. The questionnaire was completed by a group of 110 pregnant people.

No. Crt.	Questionnaire quality of life after SARS-CoV-2 infection
1	Assess the general condition at the time of discharge by comparison with the time of admission.
2	To what extent did you feel unwell, depressed or hopeless during the hospital stay?
3	Were there symptoms of a psychosomatic nature (eg: insomnia, insecurity, anxiety) during the hospitalization?
4	To what extent have you been emotionally affected by your health problems since SARS-CoV-2 infection was confirmed or symptoms appeared?
7	To what extent have you been emotionally affected by your health problems since SARS-CoV-2 infection was confirmed or symptoms appeared?
6	To what extent did you feel the impact of the lack of visits from loved ones during hospitalization?
5	5 To what extent do you feel your quality of life has been affected post-Covid?
8	To what extent do you consider that the measures taken against the SARS-CoV-2 infection have helped to stop or reduce the transmission of the virus?
9	To what extent do you think patient-staff communication has been affected?

Table V-1. Questionnaire on the quality of life after SARS-CoV-2 infection



Transilvania University of Brasov

10 To what extent would you propose revisions in the management of stopping the transmission of SARS-COV-2 infection within SCOG-BV?

V.1.2. Graphical data processing and statistical analysis

The statistical and graphic processing of the data used to carry out the prospective study from January 1, 2020 to March 3, 2023 was carried out with the help of Microsoft Excel, GraphPad prism 9.2.0 and GPOwer3.1 programs. The obtained results were rendered as variables. Then correlations were made for the types of variables obtained by analysis using GraphPad prism 9.2.0 and GPOwerWin3. Multivariable analysis for explanatory purposes was carried out with the help of logistic regression or linear regression, in order to find out the role that certain covariates could have on the target effect. Hypotheses with a p value lower than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

The GraphPad prism 9.2.0 program has the ability to return the correlation coefficient between two variables in the context of a statistical significance level, defined by a p-value 0.9= excellent model, 0.8-0.9= very good model, 0.7-0.8= good model , 0.6-0.7=intermediate model (correct)

V.1.3. Measures provided for compliance with the rules of bioethics and deontology of research

During the prospective study, the norms of bioethics and deontology of scientific research were respected. In the present study we did not use explicit data about patients that could reveal their identity, the number of observation sheets or other personal identification data.

The analysis of the medical documents was carried out with the approval of the Ethics Commission of the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" Braşov.

The patients included in the study signed the informed consent regarding the participation in the medical education and also the informed consent regarding the processing of personal data (GDPR) upon hospitalization.



Chapter VI. RESULT

VI.1.1. Comparative study of the births of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection

Table VI-1. Distribution of births of Covid-negative and Covid-positive patients during 2020-2021

	2020		2021	
Month	Non-Covid	Covid	Non-Covid	Covid
January	372	0	363	28
February	320	0	299	11
March	348	0	369	32
April	380	4	321	26
May	409	7	353	6
June	379	24	347	2
July	344	36	381	0
August	371	13	370	3
September	412	14	397	13
October	367	16	345	55
November	347	49	322	38
December	311	41	367	5





Figure II.12-1. Distribution by month of hospitalized patients according to the presence or absence of SARS-CoV-2 infection

VI.2. Research on the epidemiological data of pregnant patients in the period 2020-2022 within the Clinical Hospital of Obstetrics and Gynecology ''Dr.I.A.Sbârcea''

VI.2.1. Comparative study of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection depending on the environment of origin

Table VI-2. Distribution of positive COVID patients according to the environment of origin

RURAL	293
URBAN	262




Figure VI.2-1. The structure of the batch of positive COVID patients according to the environment of origin

Table VI-3. Distribution of patients in the control group according to the environment of origin





Figure VI.2-2. The structure of the control group according to the environment of origin



Table VI-4. Comparative statistical study of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection depending on the environment of origin

Table Analyzed	provenientă c vs m	
P value and statistical significance		
Test	Chi-square with Yates' correction	
Chi-square, df	4,805, 1	
Ζ	2.192	
P value	0.0284	
P value summary	*	
One- or two-sided	Two-sided	
Statistically significant (P < 0.05)?	Yes	

VI.2.2. Comparative study of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection according to smoker/non-smoker status

Table VI-5. Distribution of positive COVID patients according to smoker/non-smoker status

Smoker	165
Non-smoker	341





Figure VI.2-3. Group structure of positive COVID patients according to smoker/non-smoker status

Table VI-6. Distribution of negative COVID patients according to smoker/non-smoker status

Smoker	86
Non-smoker	197



Figure VI.2 8. Group structure of patients without COVID infection according to smoker/non-smoker status



Table VI 14. Comparative statistical analysis of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection according to smoking/non-smoking status

P value and statistical significance		
Test	Fisher's exact test	
P value	0.577	
P value summary	ns	
One- or two-sided	Two-sided	
Statistically significant (P < 0.05)?	No	

VI.3. Comparative research on the obstetrical data of patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, hospitalized between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital ''Dr.I.A.Sbârcea''



Figure VI.3-1. Comparative analysis of the patients in the study group according to the gestational age at the time of hospitalization



VI.4. Comparative analysis regarding childbirth in patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, hospitalized between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital ''Dr.I.A.Sbârcea''

Table VI-8. Distribution of positive COVID patients according to the type of birth

Spontaneous birth	181
Cesarean section	241



Figure VI.4-1. The return of patients from the study group according to the type of birth

Table VI-9 Distribution of patients from the control group according to the type of birth

Spontaneous birth	124
Cesarean section	132



Figure VI.4-2. The return of patients from the control group depending on the type of birth

Table VI-10. Comparative statistical analysis of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection according to the type of birth

P value and statistical significance			
Test	Fisher's exact test		
P value	0.1759		
P value summary	ns		
One- or two-sided	Two-sided		
Statistically significant (P < 0.05)?	No		







Figure VI.4-3. Distribution of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection according to the indication for caesarean section



Figure VI.4-4. Distribution of patients without SARS-CoV-2 infection according to the indication for caesarean section



Figure VI.4-5. Comparative analysis of the patients in the study group according to the moment of birth



VI.5. Comparative analysis regarding the condition of newborns in patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, hospitalized between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea"

VI.5.1. Comparative study of the weight of newborns in hospitalized patients with and
without SARS-CoV-2 infection



Figure VI.5-1. Histogram representing the birth weight of newborns from the control group



Figure VI.5-2. Histogram representing the birth weight of newborns of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection



VI.6. Comparative analysis regarding the costs of patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, admitted between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea"



Figure VI.6-1. Comparative graph of the cost of a spontaneous birth in patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection



Figure VI.6-2. Comparative graph of the cost of a spontaneous birth in patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection







Figure VI.6-3. Histogram representing the number of leukocytes in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection (10*9/l)



VI.7. Comparative statistical analysis regarding maternal complications in patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, hospitalized between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022

within

Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea



Figure VI.7-1. Statistical analysis of maternal-fetal complications studied within the cohortpatients with SARS-CoV-2 infection





Figure VI.7-2. Statistical analysis of maternal-fetal complications studied in the control group

VI.7.1. Studiu statistic comparativ al nașterii premature la pacientele internate cu și fără infecție SARS-CoV-2

Tabel VI-11. Distribuția pacientelor din lotul de studiu în fucție de tipul nașterii, prematură sau la termen

	Naștere prematură	Naștere la termen
Witness Lot	11,85%	88,15%
Lot of Covid	13,33%	86,67%





Figure VI.7-3. The structure of the study group according to the type of birth, premature or full-term

Table VI-12. Comparative statistical analysis of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection depending on the moment of birth

Table Analyzed	Naștere prematură RR		
P value and statistical significance			
Test	Fisher's exact test		
P value	0.5876		
P value summary	ns		
One- or two-sided	Two-sided		
Statistically significant (P < 0.05)?	No		
Effect size	Value	95% CI	



Relative Risk	0.8885	0,6068 to 1,292	
Reciprocal of relative risk	1.125	0,7739 to 1,648	
Methods used to compute CIs			
Relative Risk	Koopman asymptotic score		

VI.7.2. Comparative statistical study of patients according to the time of membrane rupture, with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection

Table VI-13. The distribution of patients in the study group according to the time of limb breakage

	Membrane rupte prematur	Fără membrane rupte prematur	
Lot Martor	13	274	4
Lot Covid	11	544	4





Figure VI 1. The structure of the study group according to the moment of rupture of the membranes

Table VI-14. Comparative statistical analysis of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection according to the time of membrane rupture

Table Analyzed	Ruptura prematură de membrane	
P value and statistical significance		
Test	Fisher's exact test	
P value	0.0476	
P value summary	*	
One- or two-sided	Two-sided	
Statistically significant (P < 0.05)?	Yes	



 of Brasov

 Effect size
 Value 95% CI

 Relative Risk
 Value 95% CI

Relative Risk	2.285	1,056 to 4,936	
Reciprocal of relative risk	0.4376	0,2026 to 0,9469	
Methods used to compute CIs			
Relative Risk	Koopman asymptotic score		

VI.7.3. Comparative statistical study of patients who suffered a spontaneous abortion in the first trimester, with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection

Table VI-15. Distribution of patients in the study groups according to spontaneous abortion

	Avort spontan	Fără Avort spontan
Lot Martor	14	273
Lot Covid	21	534





Figure VI-2. Structure of the study group according to the presence of spontaneous abortion in the first trimester

Table VI-16. Comparative statistical analysis of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection according to the presence of first-trimester abortion

Table Analyzed	Avort spontan trim. I		
P value and statistical significance			
Test	Fisher's exact test		
P value	0.4691		
P value summary	ns		
One- or two-sided	Two-sided		
Statistically significant (P < 0.05)?	No		
Effect size	Value	95% CI	



Relative Risk	1.289	0,6718 to 2,463		
Reciprocal of relative risk	0.7757	0,4061 to 1,489		
Methods used to compute CIs				
Relative Risk	Koopman asymptotic score			

VI.7.4. Comparative statistical study of hospitalized patients with threatened abortion with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection

Table VI-17. Distribution of study groups	s according to the presence	of threatened abortion
---	-----------------------------	------------------------

	Abortion Spontaneous trimester. II	Without Abortion Spontaneous trimester.II
Witness Lot	2	285
Covid Lot	7	548



Figure VI-3. Distribution of study groups according to the presence of threatened abortion



Table VI-18. Comparative statistical analysis of patients in the study groups according to the threat of abortion

Table Analyzed	Avort spontan trim II		
P value and statistical significance			
Test	Fisher's exact test		
P value	0.7257		
P value summary	ns		
One- or two-sided	Two-sided		
Statistically significant (P < 0.05)?	No		
Effect size	Value	95% CI	
Relative Risk	0.5525	0,1309 to 2,317	
Reciprocal of relative risk	1.81 0,4315 to 7,639		
Methods used to compute CIs			
Relative Risk	Koopman asymptotic score		



VI.7.5. Comparative statistical study of hospitalized patients according to the occurrence of coagulation disorders

Table VI-19. Distribution of study groups according to the presence of coagulation disorders

	Cu tulburări de coagulare	Fără tulburări de coagulare
Lot Martor	8	279
Lot Covid	14	541



Figure VI-4. The structure of the study groups according to the presence of coagulation disorders



Table VI-20 Comparative statistical analysis of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection according to the occurrence of coagulation disorders

Table Analyzed	Tulburări de coagulare		
P value and statistical significance			
Test	Fisher's exact test		
P value	0.8223		
P value summary	ns		
One- or two-sided	Two-sided		
Statistically significant (P < 0.05)?	No		
Effect size	Value	95% CI	
Relative Risk	1.105	0,4795 to 2,534	
Reciprocal of relative risk	0.905 0,3947 to 2,086		
Methods used to compute CIs			
Relative Risk	Koopman asymptotic score		



VI.8. Comparative statistical analysis regarding fetal complications occurring in the faces of patients with or without Sars-Cov 2 infection, admitted between 01.01.2020-03.08.2022 in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea"

VI.8.1. Comparative statistical study of hospitalized patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection, according to fetal death

Table VI-21. Distribution of study groups according to the occurrence of fetal death

	Moarte fetală	Fără moarte fetală
Lot Martor	2	285
Lot Covid	7	548



Figure VI-5. Structure of the study groups according to the occurrence of fetal death



Table VI-22. Comparative statistical analysis of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection according to the occurrence of fetal death

Table Analyzed	Moarte fetală	
P value and statistical significance	r	
Test	Fisher's exact test	
P value	0.7257	
P value summary	ns	
One- or two-sided	Two-sided	
Statistically significant (P < 0.05)?	No	
Effect size	Value	95% CI
Relative Risk	0.5525	0,1309 to 2,317
Reciprocal of relative risk	1.81	0,4315 to 7,639
Methods used to compute CIs		
Relative Risk	Koopman asymptotic score	



VI.8.2. Comparative statistical study of newborns of hospitalized patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection, depending on the moment of birth





Figure VI-6. The structure of the newborn patients in the study groups according to the time of birth

Table VI-24. Comparative statistical analysis of newborns of patients with and without SARS-CoV-2 infection according to the time of birth

Table Analyzed	Prematuritate
P value and statistical significance	
Test	Fisher's exact test



P value	0.383				
P value summary	ns				
One- or two-sided	Two-sided				
Statistically significant (P < 0.05)?	No				
Effect size	Value	95% CI			
Relative Risk	0.8362	0,5660 to 1,227			
Reciprocal of relative risk	1.196 0,8151 to 1,767				
Methods used to compute CIs					
Relative Risk	Koopman asymptotic score				

VI.9. Explanatory multivariable regression regarding the weight of various causal factors (including SARS-CoV-2 infection) in the occurrence of maternal-fetal complications in the studied group

VI.9.1. Explanatory multivariable regression regarding the weight of different causal factors in the occurrence of premature birth

Table VI-25. Explicative multivariable regression regarding the weight of causal factors in the occurrence of premature birth

Analysis of Variance	SS	DF	MS	F (DFn, DFd)	P value
D1 Vârsta sub 19	0.01808	1	0.01808	F (1, 664) = 0,2021	P=0,6532
D2 Vârsta peste 35	0.01123	1	0.01123	F (1, 664) = 0,1255	P=0,7233



Paritate	0.01632	1	0.01632	F (1, 664) = 0,1825	P=0,6694
D1 Comorbidități obstetricale	0.1022	1	0.1022	F (1, 664) = 1,143	P=0,2855
D2 Comorbidități cardiovasculare	0.2439	1	0.2439	F (1, 664) = 2,727	P=0,0991
D3 Comorbidități infecțioase	0.1351	1	0.1351	F (1, 664) = 1,511	P=0,2195
D4 Comorbidități metabolice	0.2353	1	0.2353	F (1, 664) = 2,631	P=0,1053
Greutate fat (1> 2500g,0 <2500 g)	28.75	1	28.75	F (1, 664) = 321,4	P<0,0001
Tipul nașterii	0.2125	1	0.2125	F (1, 664) = 2,376	P=0,1237
Fumatoare (da/nu)	0.02783	1	0.02783	F (1, 664) = 0,3112	P=0,5771
Prezența COVID	0.004538	1	0.004538	F (1, 664) = 0,05073	P=0,8219
Residual	59.39	664	0.08945		
Total	90.06	675			

Table VI-26. Estimated β parameters related to the weight of causal factors in the occurrence of preterm birth

Parameter estimates	Variable	Estimate	Standard error	95% CI (asymptotic)	t	P value	P value summary
	Intercept	0.6326	0.04273	0,5487 to 0,7165	14.8	<0,0001	****
β1	D1 Vârsta sub 19	-0.01653	0.03677	-0,08873 to 0,05567	0.4496	0.6532	ns



β2	D2 Vârsta peste 35	0.0121	0.03416	-0,05497 to 0,07917	0.3543	0.7233	ns
β3	Paritate	0.01079	0.02526	-0,03881 to 0,06039	0.4272	0.6694	ns
β4	D1 Comorbidități obstetricale	-0.03556	0.03327	-0,1009 to 0,02976	1.069	0.2855	ns
β5	D2 Comorbidități cardiovasculare	0.07456	0.04515	-0,01409 to 0,1632	1.651	0.0991	ns
β6	D3 Comorbidități infecțioase	0.08289	0.06744	-0,04953 to 0,2153	1.229	0.2195	ns
β7	D4 Comorbidități metabolice	0.1328	0.08185	-0,02795 to 0,2935	1.622	0.1053	ns
β8	Greutate fat (1> 2500g,0 <2500 g)	-0.5877	0.03278	-0,6521 to - 0,5234	17.93	<0,0001	****
β9	Tipul nașterii	0.04533	0.02941	-0,01242 to 0,1031	1.541	0.1237	ns
β10	Fumatoare (da/nu)	-0.01387	0.02487	-0,06270 to 0,03495	0.5578	0.5771	ns
β11	Prezența COVID	0.005529	0.02455	-0,04267 to 0,05373	0.2252	0.8219	ns

Table VI-27. Determination of multicollinearity regarding the weight of causal factors in the occurrence of preterm birth

Multicollinearity	Variable	VIF	R2 with other variables	
β0	Intercept			



β1	D1 Vârsta sub 19	1.066	0.06211	
β2	D2 Vârsta peste 35	1.065	0.06106	
β3	Paritate	1.178	0.1512	
β4	D1 Comorbidități obstetricale	1.668	0.4005	
β5	D2 Comorbidități cardiovasculare	1.132	0.1169	
β6	D3 Comorbidități infecțioase	1.035	0.03358	
β7	D4 Comorbidități metabolice	1.027	0.0261	
β8	Greutate fat (1> 2500g,0 <2500 g)	1.024	0.02334	
β9	Tipul nașterii	1.619	0.3824	
β10	Fumatoare (da/nu)	1.038	0.03627	
β11	Prezența COVID	1.075	0.06959	
Normality of Residuals	Statistics	P value	Passed normality test (alpha=0,05)?	P value summary
Anderson-Darling (A2*)	93.06	<0,0001	No	***
D'Agostino-Pearson omnibus (K2)	191.1	<0,0001	No	****



Shapiro-Wilk (W)	0.7009	<0,0001	No	****
Kolmogorov- Smirnov (distance)	0.3582	<0,0001	No	****

VI.10. Evaluation of the quality of life after SARS-CoV-2 infection of pregnant women admitted to the "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" Obstetrics-Gynecology Clinical Hospital during the study period



Figure VI-7. The structure of the study group according to the assessment of the general evolution during hospitalization





Figure VI-8. The structure of the study group according to the assessment of psycho-emotional impairment



Figure VI-9. The structure of the study group according to the assessment of the perception of the change in the quality of life





Figure VI-10. The structure of the study group according to the assessment of the measures to combat the SARS-CoV-2 infection and the impact on the doctor-patient relationship



Figure VI-11. The structure of the study group according to the assessment of the measures to combat the SARS-CoV-2 infection



Chapter VII. DISCUSSIONS

Pregnant women have a higher susceptibility to respiratory pathogens due to the anatomical and physiological adaptive changes of the respiratory system that occur during pregnancy, and these viral infections can induce pregnancy complications.

Since the first reports of pneumonia of unknown cause from Wuhan in December 2019 and the subsequent identification of the causative agent as a novel coronavirus now called SARS-CoV-2, there have been more than 180 million cases of coronavirus disease (COVID - 19) and over 4 million attributable deaths globally. Romania has borne a significant proportion of the global burden of COVID-19, with almost 3 million cumulative cases. (Geo-spatial, 2022)

Regarding the incidence of cases, in the current research the upward or downward trend of the number of cases corresponding to our region was respected, so that in 2020 most cases were registered in November (49 obstetric patients), and in 2021 in October (55 obstetric patients).

The spread of the COVID-19 infection occurred rapidly, both in urban and rural environments, thus 52.79% of the patients came from the urban environment, and 47.21% came from the rural environment. Thus, there was no predilection in the spread of the virus, pregnant women from both environments being equally affected.

As the understanding of SARS-CoV-2 infection has developed, concerns have been raised about the effect of COVID-19 on pregnancy. Limited prior experience with SARS-CoV-1 and MERS-CoV has shown an increased risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes, including preterm birth, threatened abortion, and perinatal death. (Daniele Di Mascio et al., 2020) The association of COVID-19 with an unfavorable CD4+ T cell phenotype has raised concerns about implantation and placentation and the possibility of subsequent fetal growth restriction, pregnancy termination, spontaneous abortion and other consequences of placental dysfunction. COVID-19 is also associated with a profound prothrombotic state and, in particular, with the formation of immunogenic thrombi in the microvasculature. (Abou-Ismail et al., 2020) This not only increases the risk of venous thromboembolism, but has been reported by some investigators to lead to high rates of fetal and maternal placental vascular malperfusion, although a subsequent controlled study of placental pathology did not show any specific pattern of pathological features associated with COVID-19. SARS-CoV-2 achieves cell entry by binding to the ACE23 receptor that is expressed in the syncytiotrophoblast and cytotrophoblast and, as such, provides a plausible mechanism for placental infection and vertical transmission to the fetus. (Valdés et al., 2006b)

All these hypotheses materialized in this work, trying to establish which of the complications had a greater impact on the obstetric patients hospitalized in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" during the pandemic period.



A study conducted in England by Willkinson et al. (Wilkinson et al., 2022) aimed to describe the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on pregnancy complications at a population level in a multi-ethnic cohort in England. It also examined the effect of confirmed COVID-19 infection on pregnancy outcomes compared to a control group. Among the results obtained, it should be noted that 3,215 (7.4%) babies were born before 37 weeks and 1,030 (2.4%) before 34 weeks. There was no significant change in the risk of preterm birth at less than 37 weeks (OR 1.00, 95% CI 0.91–1.10, p = 0.93) or at less than 34 weeks (OR 1.00, 95% CI 0.85–1.18, p = =0.93) 0.97) in the COVID era compared to the pre-COVID era.

In the research carried out at the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" it was observed that the risk of premature birth was not significantly higher compared to the control group, thus 11.85% of parturients gave birth prematurely, compared to 13, 33% who delivered before 37 weeks (95% CI 0.60-1.29, p=0.58).

The overall cesarean rate was 29.0% in the study by Wilkinson et al. There has been a steady increase in the caesarean section rate over time, with an average increase of 1.6% per calendar year. Adjusting for this increase over time, the risk of caesarean section remained significantly higher during the COVID period (OR 1.11, 95). % CI 1.03–1.19, p = 0.006).

In the current research, a 57% higher rate of caesarean sections could be observed in the group of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection compared to the control group that recorded 52% cesarean births (p=0.17). Among the indications for caesarean section was SARS-CoV-2 infection (7%), to improve the maternal status in the context of a severe form. Other indications among those studied, with a high weight in the group of patients with COVID infection, were scarred uterus (38%), fetal distress (21%), pelvic presentation in primiparous women (12%) and feto-pelvic disproportions (8%). It is worth noting that fetal distress had a greater weight in the COVID infection group, compared to the control group (8%). This difference may be due to the pathophysiological mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 infection involved in placental damage. Because the placenta provides support for fetal growth, its histopathology can help elucidate the underlying cause of chronic and acute fetal distress and fetal prognosis. In maternal ischemic conditions, such as those seen in COVID-19 infection, spiral arteries and terminal vessels may not dilate normally and extend into the decidua. Consequently, there is incomplete perfusion of the intervillous space leading to villous damage and possible fetal distress. (Jafari et al., 2021)

In their work, Wilkinson et al reported 116 neonatal deaths and 179 stillbirths (0.26% and 0.41%, respectively). There was no significant change in the risk of stillbirth (OR 0.78, 95% CI 0.51–1.20, p = 0.26) or neonatal death (OR 0.89, 95% CI 0, 54–1.47, p = 0.64) in the COVID era versus the pre-COVID era. (Wilkinson et al., 2022)

In the study carried out at the Clinical Hospital of Obstetrics and Gynecology "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" similar results were recorded in terms of fetal death, respectively 0.70% for the control group and 1.26% for pregnant women with SARS-CoV infection -2 (RR 0.55, 95% CI 0.13-2.31, p=0.72).



The association between SARS-CoV-2 infection in the first half of pregnancy and pregnancy loss is still unknown. Infections with other coronaviruses, such as severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) and Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), appear to increase the risk of miscarriage.

The overall rate of miscarriage before 20 weeks' gestation ranges from 10% to 26% ("ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 200: Early Pregnancy Loss," 2018) with the rate increasing as the woman ages, reaching approximately 53% in women aged 45 and over. In the study performed by Cavalcante et al. (Cavalcante et al., 2021), the proportion of spontaneous abortion (<22 weeks) in pregnant women with COVID-19 was 15.3% (95% CI 10.95–20.59) and 23.1% (95% CI 13.17–34.95) using fixed and random effects models, respectively. Thus, the spontaneous abortion rate of COVID-19 cases appears to be in the range of the normal pregnant population.

The impact of the pandemic environment on spontaneous abortion rates in two cohorts of pregnant women was studied in Montreal, Quebec, Canada, at two different time points. A retrospective cohort study was conducted to compare the spontaneous abortion rate of all asymptomatic women (without universal screening) in the first trimester during the study period (n = 113, March 13 to May 6, 2020) with that of the cohort control (n = 172, from March 1 to May 17, 2019). There was no significant difference in the total number of pregnancy losses (22.1% vs. 16.9%, p = 0.32) or in each type of miscarriage. (Rotshenker-Olshinka et al., 2021)

In this research, data consistent with the specialized literature were identified, thus in the first trimester of pregnancy there were 3.78% cases of spontaneous abortion in the group with Covid infection and 4.88% in the control group (95% CI 0.67-2.46, p=0.46). Regarding abortion in the second trimester of pregnancy, an insignificant difference was recorded (1.26% in the group with SARS-CoV-2 versus 0.70 in the control group, p=0.72).

Interestingly, the presence of symptoms during the acute phase of COVID-19, the plasma viral load, the severity of the disease and the presence of obstetric risk factors seem to increase the risk of spontaneous abortion in pregnant women infected with SARS-CoV-2.

Regarding the termination of pregnancy in progress in the first and second trimesters, no significant differences were recorded between the two study groups, thus in the group of pregnant women with SARS-CoV-2 infection this event occurred in 1.62 cases, on when in the control group in 3.14% of patients (p=0.20).

It should be noted that during the study period, 1.62% of Covid-positive patients and 3.14% of patients without Covid infection were hospitalized for threatened abortion (p=0.0001), presenting symptoms such as metrorrhagia or pelvic-abdominal pain. The management of these pregnancies included progestogen treatment, supplemented with anticoagulant treatment (low molecular weight heparin) in patients with COVID infection.

The studies suggest that haematological complications are seen more frequently in pregnant women with COVID-19 infection (1.26%) than in pregnant women without (0.45%)



and support the current RCOG advice that all pregnant women hospitalized with confirmed COVID or suspected to receive prophylactic low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) unless delivery is expected in less than 12 hours and continue this for 10 days after discharge. (Servante et al., 2021)

There is some evidence that COVID-19 increases prothrombotic potential in pregnancy. Thrombocytopenia, hypofibrinogenemia, prolonged prothrombin time, prolonged partially activated thromboplastin time, an increase in the level of fibrinogen and D-dimers can accompany both SARS-CoV-2 infection and disseminated intravascular coagulation syndrome. However, in CID syndrome the level of D-dimers significantly exceeds normal values. (Skalska-Świstek et al., 2022).

Regarding the appearance of coagulation disorders in patients admitted to the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" during the pandemic period, the appearance of changes in coagulation parameters studied in 2.79% of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection present and in 2.52% of patients in the control group (RR 1.10, 95% CI 0.47-2.53, p= 0.82).

Similar observations were also noted in the study carried out by Khryshchanovich and colleagues who concluded that most of the hematological parameters studied were almost identical both in the group of positive Covid patients and in the control group. At the same time, in patients with symptomatic COVID-19, D-dimer and PCR levels were approximately 2.5 and 6 times higher, respectively, compared to pregnant women without SARS-CoV-2. (Khryshchanovich VY, 2021)

Regarding the vertical transmission of the SARS-CoV-2 infection, in the given research, 3 newborns were infected at the time of birth, respectively 0.54% (p=0.55).

Given the accumulating evidence from studies observing the presence of COVID-19 viral RNA in numerous fetal or neonatal sources and positive serology, vertical transmission of COVID-19 is indeed highly likely. A systematic literature review by Kotlyar et al suggests that maternal infection with COVID-19 in the third trimester appears to be associated with low rates of vertical transmission (approximately 3.2%), with no significant consequences for newborns. (Kotlyar et al., 2021)

We performed a multivariable analysis of certain determinants, including COVID 19 infection, in the occurrence of maternal-child complications. Following this complex analysis, SARS-CoV-2 infection did not have the greatest weight in triggering premature birth, in the occurrence of coagulation disorders, inflammatory syndrome or liver cytolysis. Other infectious, obstetrical, cardiovascular or metabolic factors had a greater impact in the occurrence of maternal-fetal complications.

Particular importance was given to the assessment of the quality of life of patients after SARS-CoV-2 infection, but also of the medical act during the pandemic. To the questions regarding internal infection control management, but also the patient-doctor relationship, most


pregnant women answered that they would not change the already established measures, and communication with the doctor did not suffer in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinical Hospital "Dr. I.A. Sbârcea". On the other hand, most hospitalized patients were affected psychoemotionally by the presence of the SARS-CoV-2 infection, even if the form developed was not severe.



Chapter VIII. CONCLUSIONS

After carrying out this extensive research, which focused on the main maternal-fetal complications that occurred in the context of SARS-Cov-2 infection, we concluded the following:

- 1. The SARS-CoV-2 infection had a general impact on the medical system and on hospitalized obstetric patients during the pandemic.
- 2. The hospitalized patients had the environment of origin in equal measure from the rural and urban environment, thus the spread of the infection targeted both environments.
- 3. SARS-CoV-2 infection does not seem to have a major impact on the occurrence of the studied maternal-fetal complications, not having a determining impact on them.
- 4. According to the multivariable analysis of the different determining factors, there were other impact factors on maternal-fetal complications.
- 5. Although the influence of COVID-19 did not have the greatest weight in determining complications, it remains a major factor in determining the way of delivery, and pregnant women with SARS-CoV-2 infection predominantly gave birth by caesarean section.
- 6. Coagulation and liver cytolysis disorders occurring in the context of COVID-19 remain a landmark for future studies, especially at the pathophysiological level.
- 7. The inflammatory syndrome that occurs in the SARS-CoV-2 infection seems to be echoed in the severe forms, in the asymptomatic, mild or medium forms it does not change the maternal status.
- 8. Pregnancy induces a state of physiological hypercoagulability, therefore, in the context of the COVID-19 infection, it is important to anticipate possible complications such as spontaneous abortion or stopping the pregnancy from developing by administering an anticoagulant.
- 9. A minor difference in the occurrence of maternal-fetal complications between the group with SARS-CoV 2 infection and the one without infection is due to effective medical management, continuously adapting to new changes and new challenges.

Limitations of the study

- One of the main limitations of this study was that the patients were followed in the research only during the hospitalization period, the complications that developed later could not be taken into account
- Following the evolution of newborns with the highlighting of other ways of infection with SARS-CoV-2, such as through breast milk, was not possible
- The detection of SARS-CoV-2 infection at the level of the placenta and the aborted products of conception was not possible from a technical point of view, the laboratory being already clogged with the samples of all infected patients



Chapter IX. PRACTICAL APPLICABILITY OF THE STUDY. PERSONAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The SARS-CoV-2 infection left its mark both in Romania and worldwide, being a virus that changed the entire world map. Studies on this virus carried out on groups of pregnant patients are in continuous research, since the mother-fetus dyad has an important role in the medical society. The research conducted in this thesis is unique because it covered most maternal-fetal complications, starting from hypotheses that were still unclear at the start of the study.

The solutions proposed following the research carried out on this topic:

- Creation of a National Guide aimed at the management of obstetric patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection, depending on the trimester of pregnancy and the severity of the developed form
- Increasing the vaccination rate among obstetric patients, those who are in the process of conception and patients who have given birth
- The constant collaboration of the obstetrician with the doctors in Intensive Care to reduce the percentage of premature births and caesarean sections
- Streamlining the management of medical waste, which increased considerably during the pandemic

Personal expenses:

1. Synthesis contributions

During the research period, I carried out syntheses covering the following topics:

- The epidemiology and structure of the new COVID-19 virus
- Diagnostic methods of the COVID-19 virus
- Symptoms of the COVID-19 virus in pregnant women
- The effect of SARS-CoV-2 infection on pregnancy
- COVID-19 vaccination in pregnancy
- Pathophysiology of the placenta in interaction with SARS-CoV-2 infection
- Immunology of COVID-19 in pregnancy
- Mechanisms involved in spontaneous abortion and stopping the pregnancy from developing

2. Experimental scientific contributions

• Prospective cohort study conducted between January 1, 2020 and March 8, 2022 regarding maternal-fetal complications arising in the context of SARS-Cov-2 virus infection



- 3. Valorization and dissemination of research results in the academic environment
 - Elaboration of scientific research reports every year throughout the research program
 - Participation in scientific events with the theme of SARS-CoV-2 infection in pregnancy
 - Completion of the doctoral thesis
- 4. The novelty of the doctoral thesis
 - The study of maternal-fetal complications in the context of the new COVID-19 virus, which is under continuous research in the scientific world since it surprised the whole world
 - Multivariable analysis of the various potential causes in the occurrence of complications
- 5. Future research directions
 - Continuation of the study with the deepening of the mechanisms that determine the severe forms of infection in the pregnant population
 - Continue monitoring of a cohort of discharged patients to evaluate the possible complications in the long term
 - Testing placentas and products of conception to demonstrate the context in which vertical transmission of infection occurs.



Selective Bibliography

- 1. ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 200: Early Pregnancy Loss. (2018). Obstet Gynecol, 132(5), e197-e207. https://doi.org/10.1097/aog.0000000002899
- Adachi, D., Johnson, G., Draker, R., Ayers, M., Mazzulli, T., Talbot, P. J., & Tellier, R. (2004). Comprehensive detection and identification of human coronaviruses, including the SARS-associated coronavirus, with a single RT-PCR assay. J Virol Methods, 122(1), 29-36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2004.07.008
- Afshar, Y., Gaw, S. L., Flaherman, V. J., Chambers, B. D., Krakow, D., Berghella, V., Shamshirsaz, A. A., Boatin, A. A., Aldrovandi, G., Greiner, A., Riley, L., Boscardin, W. J., Jamieson, D. J., & Jacoby, V. L. (2020). Clinical Presentation of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Pregnant and Recently Pregnant People. Obstet Gynecol, 136(6), 1117-1125. https://doi.org/10.1097/aog.000000000004178
- 4. Agency, U. H. S. COVID-19 vaccine weekly surveillance reports (weeks 39 to 19, 2021 to 2022). Retrieved Decembrie from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-vaccine-weekly-surveillance-reports
- Ahmed, S. F., Quadeer, A. A., & McKay, M. R. (2020). Preliminary Identification of Potential Vaccine Targets for the COVID-19 Coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) Based on SARS-CoV Immunological Studies. Viruses, 12(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/v12030254
- Ai, T., Yang, Z., Hou, H., Zhan, C., Chen, C., Lv, W., Tao, Q., Sun, Z., & Xia, L. (2020). Correlation of Chest CT and RT-PCR Testing for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in China: A Report of 1014 Cases. Radiology, 296(2), E32-e40. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2020200642
- Aitken, A. E., & Morgan, E. T. (2007). Gene-specific effects of inflammatory cytokines on cytochrome P450 2C, 2B6 and 3A4 mRNA levels in human hepatocytes. Drug Metab Dispos, 35(9), 1687-1693. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.107.015511
- Al-Haddad, B. J. S., Oler, E., Armistead, B., Elsayed, N. A., Weinberger, D. R., Bernier, R., Burd, I., Kapur, R., Jacobsson, B., Wang, C., Mysorekar, I., Rajagopal, L., & Adams Waldorf, K. M. (2019). The fetal origins of mental illness. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 221(6), 549-562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2019.06.013
- Al-Lami, R. A., Urban, R. J., Volpi, E., Algburi, A. M. A., & Baillargeon, J. (2020). Sex Hormones and Novel Corona Virus Infectious Disease (COVID-19). Mayo Clin Proc, 95(8), 1710-1714. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.05.013
- Algarroba, G. N., Rekawek, P., Vahanian, S. A., Khullar, P., Palaia, T., Peltier, M. R., Chavez, M. R., & Vintzileos, A. M. (2020). Visualization of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 invading the human placenta using electron microscopy. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 223(2), 275-278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2020.05.023
- Allotey, J., Fernandez, S., Bonet, M., Stallings, E., Yap, M., Kew, T., Zhou, D., Coomar, D., Sheikh, J., Lawson, H., Ansari, K., Attarde, S., Littmoden, M., Banjoko, A., Barry, K., Akande, O., Sambamoorthi, D., van Wely, M., van Leeuwen, E., . . . Thangaratinam, S. (2020). Clinical manifestations, risk factors, and maternal and perinatal outcomes of



coronavirus disease 2019 in pregnancy: living systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ, 370, m3320. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m3320

- 12. Allotey, J., Stallings, E., Bonet, M., Yap, M., Chatterjee, S., Kew, T., Debenham, L., Llavall, A. C., Dixit, A., Zhou, D., Balaji, R., Lee, S. I., Qiu, X., Yuan, M., Coomar, D., Sheikh, J., Lawson, H., Ansari, K., van Wely, M., . . . Thangaratinam, S. (2020). Clinical manifestations, risk factors, and maternal and perinatal outcomes of coronavirus disease 2019 in pregnancy: living systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ, 370, m3320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m3320</u>
- Baergen, R. N., & Heller, D. S. (2020). Placental Pathology in Covid-19 Positive Mothers: Preliminary Findings. Pediatr Dev Pathol, 23(3), 177-180. https://doi.org/10.1177/1093526620925569
- Bastug, A., Hanifehnezhad, A., Tayman, C., Ozkul, A., Ozbay, O., Kazancioglu, S., & Bodur, H. (2020). Virolactia in an Asymptomatic Mother with COVID-19. Breastfeed Med, 15(8), 488-491. https://doi.org/10.1089/bfm.2020.0161
- Baud, D., Greub, G., Favre, G., Gengler, C., Jaton, K., Dubruc, E., & Pomar, L. (2020). Second-Trimester Miscarriage in a Pregnant Woman With SARS-CoV-2 Infection. Jama, 323(21), 2198-2200. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.7233
- Baud, G., Brunaud, L., Lifante, J. C., Tresallet, C., Sebag, F., Bizard, J. P., Mathonnet, M., Menegaux, F., Caiazzo, R., Mirallié, E., & Pattou, F. (2020). Endocrine surgery during and after the COVID-19 epidemic: Expert guidelines from AFCE. J Visc Surg, 157(3s1), S43-s49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviscsurg.2020.04.018
- Behrmann, O., Bachmann, I., Spiegel, M., Schramm, M., Abd El Wahed, A., Dobler, G., Dame, G., & Hufert, F. T. (2020). Rapid Detection of SARS-CoV-2 by Low Volume Real-Time Single Tube Reverse Transcription Recombinase Polymerase Amplification Using an Exo Probe with an Internally Linked Quencher (Exo-IQ). Clin Chem, 66(8), 1047-1054. https://doi.org/10.1093/clinchem/hvaa116
- Belaya, Z., Golounina, O., Melnichenko, G., Tarbaeva, N., Pashkova, E., Gorokhov, M., Kalashnikov, V., Dzeranova, L., Fadeev, V., Volchkov, P., & Dedov, I. (2021). Clinical course and outcome of patients with ACTH-dependent Cushing's syndrome infected with novel coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19): case presentations. Endocrine, 72(1), 12-19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-021-02674-5
- Bell, A., Gagnon, A., & Sorisky, A. (2003). TSH stimulates IL-6 secretion from adipocytes in culture. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 23(12), e65-66. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.Atv.0000102520.84030.A1
- 20. Bellastella, G., Maiorino, M. I., & Esposito, K. (2020). Endocrine complications of COVID-19: what happens to the thyroid and adrenal glands? J Endocrinol Invest, 43(8), 1169-1170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-020-01311-8
- Bora, I., Gogoi, S., Venkatasubramanian, V., Mathew, R., & Mohindra, R. (2020). Persistence of SARS-COV-2 in body fluids: a bystander or whistle blower. Iran J Microbiol, 12(5), 370-375. https://doi.org/10.18502/ijm.v12i5.4596



- 22. Brancatella, A., Ricci, D., Cappellani, D., Viola, N., Sgrò, D., Santini, F., & Latrofa, F. (2020). Is Subacute Thyroiditis an Underestimated Manifestation of SARS-CoV-2 Infection? Insights From a Case Series. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 105(10). https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgaa537
- 23. Brandão, C., Chiamolera, M. I., Biscolla, R. P. M., Lima, J. V. J., De Francischi Ferrer, C. M., Prieto, W. H., de Sá Tavares Russo, P., de Sá, J., Dos Santos Lazari, C., Granato, C. F. H., & Vieira, J. G. H. (2021). No association between vitamin D status and COVID-19 infection in São Paulo, Brazil. Arch Endocrinol Metab, 65(3), 381-385. https://doi.org/10.20945/2359-3997000000343
- 24. Breakey, S., Sharp, S. J., Adler, A. I., & Challis, B. G. (2016). Glucocorticoid-induced hyperglycaemia in respiratory disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Obes Metab, 18(12), 1274-1278. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.12739
- 25. Breslin, N., Baptiste, C., Gyamfi-Bannerman, C., Miller, R., Martinez, R., Bernstein, K., Ring, L., Landau, R., Purisch, S., Friedman, A. M., Fuchs, K., Sutton, D., Andrikopoulou, M., Rupley, D., Sheen, J. J., Aubey, J., Zork, N., Moroz, L., Mourad, M., . . . Goffman, D. (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019 infection among asymptomatic and symptomatic pregnant women: two weeks of confirmed presentations to an affiliated pair of New York City hospitals. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM, 2(2), 100118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100118</u>
- 26. Cavalcante, M. B., de Melo Bezerra Cavalcante, C. T., Cavalcante, A. N. M., Sarno, M., Barini, R., & Kwak-Kim, J. (2021). COVID-19 and miscarriage: From immunopathological mechanisms to actual clinical evidence. J Reprod Immunol, 148, 103382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jri.2021.103382
- 27. Cevik, M., Tate, M., Lloyd, O., Maraolo, A. E., Schafers, J., & Ho, A. (2021). SARS-CoV-2, SARS-CoV, and MERS-CoV viral load dynamics, duration of viral shedding, and infectiousness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Microbe, 2(1), e13-e22. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2666-5247(20)30172-5
- 28. Chang, L., Zhao, L., Gong, H., Wang, L., & Wang, L. (2020). Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 RNA Detected in Blood Donations. Emerg Infect Dis, 26(7), 1631-1633. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2607.200839
- 29. Chang, X., Zhang, S., Zhang, M., Wang, H., Fan, C., Gu, Y., Wei, J., & Qiu, C. (2018). Free triiodothyronine and global registry of acute coronary events risk score on predicting long-term major adverse cardiac events in STEMI patients undergoing primary PCI. Lipids Health Dis, 17(1), 234. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-018-0881-7
- 30. Channappanavar, R., & Perlman, S. (2017). Pathogenic human coronavirus infections: causes and consequences of cytokine storm and immunopathology. Semin Immunopathol, 39(5), 529-539. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-017-0629-x
- 31. Charoenngam, N., & Holick, M. F. (2020). Immunologic Effects of Vitamin D on Human Health and Disease. Nutrients, 12(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12072097
- 32. Chen, H., Guo, J., Wang, C., Luo, F., Yu, X., Zhang, W., Li, J., Zhao, D., Xu, D., Gong, Q., Liao, J., Yang, H., Hou, W., & Zhang, Y. (2020). Clinical characteristics and



intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records. Lancet, 395(10226), 809-815. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30360-3

- 33. Chen, M., Zhou, W., & Xu, W. (2021). Thyroid Function Analysis in 50 Patients with COVID-19: A Retrospective Study. Thyroid, 31(1), 8-11. https://doi.org/10.1089/thy.2020.0363
- 34. Chen, R., Zhang, Y., Huang, L., Cheng, B. H., Xia, Z. Y., & Meng, Q. T. (2020). Safety and efficacy of different anesthetic regimens for parturients with COVID-19 undergoing Cesarean delivery: a case series of 17 patients. Can J Anaesth, 67(6), 655-663. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12630-020-01630-7 (Sécurité et efficacité de différents modes d'anesthésie pour des parturientes infectées par la COVID-19 accouchant par césarienne : une série de 17 cas.)
- 35. Corman, V. M., Landt, O., Kaiser, M., Molenkamp, R., Meijer, A., Chu, D. K., Bleicker, T., Brünink, S., Schneider, J., Schmidt, M. L., Mulders, D. G., Haagmans, B. L., van der Veer, B., van den Brink, S., Wijsman, L., Goderski, G., Romette, J. L., Ellis, J., Zambon, M., . . . Drosten, C. (2020). Detection of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) by realtime RT-PCR. Euro Surveill, 25(3). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.Es.2020.25.3.2000045
- 36. COVID-19 Treatment Guidelines Panel. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Treatment Guidelines. National Institutes of Health. Retrieved 05 march from https://www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov/
- 37. Coyne, C. B., & Lazear, H. M. (2016). Zika virus reigniting the TORCH. Nat Rev Microbiol, 14(11), 707-715. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2016.125
- 38. Cruz-Lemini, M., Ferriols Perez, E., de la Cruz Conty, M. L., Caño Aguilar, A., Encinas Pardilla, M. B., Prats Rodríguez, P., Muner Hernando, M., Forcen Acebal, L., Pintado Recarte, P., Medina Mallen, M. D. C., Perez Perez, N., Canet Rodriguez, J., Villalba Yarza, A., Nieto Velasco, O., Del Barrio Fernandez, P. G., Orizales Lago, C. M., Marcos Puig, B., Muñoz Abellana, B., Fuentes Ricoy, L., . . . On Behalf Of The Spanish Obstetric Emergency, G. (2021). Obstetric Outcomes of SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Asymptomatic Pregnant Women. Viruses, 13(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/v13010112</u>
- 39. Destefano, F., Offit, P. A., & Fisher, A. Vaccine Safety. Plotkin's Vaccines. 2018:1584-1600.e10. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-323-35761-6.00082-1. Epub 2017 Jul 17.
- 40. Di Mascio, D., Khalil, A., Saccone, G., Rizzo, G., Buca, D., Liberati, M., Vecchiet, J., Nappi, L., Scambia, G., & Berghella, V. (2020). Outcome of coronavirus spectrum infections (SARS, MERS, COVID-19) during pregnancy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. American journal of obstetrics & gynecology MFM, 2(2), 100107.
- 41. Di Mascio, D., Khalil, A., Saccone, G., Rizzo, G., Buca, D., Liberati, M., Vecchiet, J., Nappi, L., Scambia, G., Berghella, V., & D'Antonio, F. (2020). Outcome of coronavirus spectrum infections (SARS, MERS, COVID-19) during pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM, 2(2), 100107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100107



- 42. Di Toro, F., Gjoka, M., Di Lorenzo, G., De Santo, D., De Seta, F., Maso, G., Risso, F. M., Romano, F., Wiesenfeld, U., Levi-D'Ancona, R., Ronfani, L., & Ricci, G. (2021). Impact of COVID-19 on maternal and neonatal outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Microbiol Infect, 27(1), 36-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2020.10.007
- 43. Diep, P. T., Talash, K., & Kasabri, V. (2020). Hypothesis: Oxytocin is a direct COVID-19 antiviral. Med Hypotheses, 145, 110329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.110329
- 44. Dmitrieva, N. I., & Burg, M. B. (2014). Secretion of von Willebrand factor by endothelial cells links sodium to hypercoagulability and thrombosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 111(17), 6485-6490. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1404809111
- 45. Docherty, A. B., Harrison, E. M., Green, C. A., Hardwick, H. E., Pius, R., Norman, L., Holden, K. A., Read, J. M., Dondelinger, F., Carson, G., Merson, L., Lee, J., Plotkin, D., Sigfrid, L., Halpin, S., Jackson, C., Gamble, C., Horby, P. W., Nguyen-Van-Tam, J. S., . . Semple, M. G. (2020). Features of 20 133 UK patients in hospital with covid-19 using the ISARIC WHO Clinical Characterisation Protocol: prospective observational cohort study. BMJ, 369, m1985. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1985
- 46. Dong, M., Zhang, J., Ma, X., Tan, J., Chen, L., Liu, S., Xin, Y., & Zhuang, L. (2020). ACE2, TMPRSS2 distribution and extrapulmonary organ injury in patients with COVID-19. Biomed Pharmacother, 131, 110678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110678
- 47. Dubucs, C., Groussolles, M., Ousselin, J., Sartor, A., Van Acker, N., Vayssière, C., Pasquier, C., Reyre, J., Batlle, L., Favarel Clinical Research Associate, S., Duchanois Midwife, D., Jauffret Clinical Research Associate, V., Courtade-Saïdi, M., & Aziza, J. (2022). Severe placental lesions due to maternal SARS-CoV-2 infection associated to intrauterine fetal death. Hum Pathol, 121, 46-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2021.12.012
- 48. Ehrchen, J. M., Roth, J., & Barczyk-Kahlert, K. (2019). More Than Suppression: Glucocorticoid Action on Monocytes and Macrophages. Front Immunol, 10, 2028. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02028
- 49. Ernst, E., Wolfe, P., Stahura, C., & Edwards, K. A. (2021). Technical considerations to development of serological tests for SARS-CoV-2. Talanta, 224, 121883. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2020.121883
- 50. Eskenazi, B., Rauch, S., Iurlaro, E., Gunier, R. B., Rego, A., Gravett, M. G., Cavoretto, P. I., Deruelle, P., García-May, P. K., Mhatre, M., Usman, M. A., Elbahnasawy, M., Etuk, S., Napolitano, R., Deantoni, S., Liu, B., Prefumo, F., Savasi, V., Marques, P. F., . . . Papageorghiou, A. T. (2021). Diabetes mellitus, maternal adiposity, and insulindependent gestational diabetes are associated with COVID-19 in pregnancy: the INTERCOVID study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2021.12.032
- 51. Freudenberg, L. S., Paez, D., Giammarile, F., Cerci, J., Modiselle, M., Pascual, T. N. B., El-Haj, N., Orellana, P., Pynda, Y., Carrió, I., Fanti, S., Matushita, C., & Herrmann, K. (2020). Global Impact of COVID-19 on



- 52. Nuclear Medicine Departments: An International Survey in April 2020. J Nucl Med, 61(9), 1278-1283. https://doi.org/10.2967/jnumed.120.249821
- 53. Fried, M., Kurtis, J. D., Swihart, B., Pond-Tor, S., Barry, A., Sidibe, Y., Gaoussou, S., Traore, M., Keita, S., Mahamar, A., Attaher, O., Dembele, A. B., Cisse, K. B., Diarra, B. S., Kanoute, M. B., Dicko, A., & Duffy, P. E. (2017). Systemic Inflammatory Response to Malaria During Pregnancy Is Associated With Pregnancy Loss and Preterm Delivery. Clin Infect Dis, 65(10), 1729-1735. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix623
- 54. Fung, T. S., & Liu, D. X. (2019). Human Coronavirus: Host-Pathogen Interaction. Annu Rev Microbiol, 73, 529-557. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-micro-020518-115759
- 55. Geo-spatial. (2022). Coronavirus COVID-19 România Retrieved 1 iunie from
- 56. Giagulli, V. A., Guastamacchia, E., Magrone, T., Jirillo, E., Lisco, G., De Pergola, G., & Triggiani, V. (2021). Worse progression of COVID-19 in men: Is testosterone a key factor? Andrology, 9(1), 53-64. https://doi.org/10.1111/andr.12836
- 57. Giakoumelou, S., Wheelhouse, N., Cuschieri, K., Entrican, G., Howie, S. E., & Horne, A. W. (2016). The role of infection in miscarriage. Hum Reprod Update, 22(1), 116-133. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmv041
- 58. Golan, Y., Prahl, M., Cassidy, A., Wu, A. H. B., Jigmeddagva, U., Lin, C. Y., Gonzalez, V. J., Basilio, E., Warrier, L., Buarpung, S., Asiodu, I. V., Ahituv, N., Flaherman, V. J., & Gaw, S. L. (2021). Immune response during lactation after anti-SARS-CoV2 mRNA vaccine. medRxiv, 2021.2003.2009.21253241. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.03.09.21253241
- 59. Gorini, F., Bianchi, F., & Iervasi, G. (2020). COVID-19 and Thyroid: Progress and Prospects. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 17(18). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17186630
- 60. Grant, W. B., Lahore, H., McDonnell, S. L., Baggerly, C. A., French, C. B., Aliano, J. L., & Bhattoa, H. P. (2020). Evidence that Vitamin D Supplementation Could Reduce Risk of Influenza and COVID-19 Infections and Deaths. Nutrients, 12(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12040988
- Greinacher, A., Thiele, T., Warkentin, T. E., Weisser, K., Kyrle, P. A., & Eichinger, S. (2021). Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 Vaccination. N Engl J Med, 384(22), 2092-2101. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2104840
- 62. group, A. B. C. w. (2022). The Association of Reproductive and Clinical Scientists (ARCS) and British Fertility
- 63. Society (BFS) U.K. update to guidance on Fertility treatment during the Covid-19
- 64. pandemic.
- 65. Hamre, D., & Procknow, J. J. (1966). A new virus isolated from the human respiratory tract. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med, 121(1), 190-193. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-121-30734
- 66. Hariyanto, T. I., & Kurniawan, A. (2020). Thyroid disease is associated with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection. Diabetes Metab Syndr, 14(5), 1429-1430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2020.07.044



- 67. He, X., Lau, E. H. Y., Wu, P., Deng, X., Wang, J., Hao, X., Lau, Y. C., Wong, J. Y., Guan, Y., Tan, X., Mo, X., Chen, Y., Liao, B., Chen, W., Hu, F., Zhang, Q., Zhong, M., Wu, Y., Zhao, L., . . . Leung, G. M. (2020). Temporal dynamics in viral shedding and transmissibility of COVID-19. Nat Med, 26(5), 672-675. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0869-5
- 68. Hewison, M. (2010). Vitamin D and the immune system: new perspectives on an old theme. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am, 39(2), 365-379, table of contents. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecl.2010.02.010
- 69. Hillson, K., Clemens, S. C., Madhi, S. A., Voysey, M., Pollard, A. J., & Minassian, A. M. (2021). Fertility rates and birth outcomes after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (AZD1222) vaccination. Lancet, 398(10312), 1683-1684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(21)02282-0</u>
- 70. Hoffmann, M., Kleine-Weber, H., Schroeder, S., Krüger, N., Herrler, T., Erichsen, S., Schiergens, T. S., Herrler, G., Wu, N. H., Nitsche, A., Müller, M. A., Drosten, C., & Pöhlmann, S. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor. Cell, 181(2), 271-280.e278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052
- 71. Holmes, K. V. (2003). SARS-associated coronavirus. N Engl J Med, 348(20), 1948-1951. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp030078
- 72. Horby, P., Lim, W. S., Emberson, J. R., Mafham, M., Bell, J. L., Linsell, L., Staplin, N., Brightling, C., Ustianowski, A., Elmahi, E., Prudon, B., Green, C., Felton, T., Chadwick, D., Rege, K., Fegan, C., Chappell, L. C., Faust, S. N., Jaki, T., . . . Landray, M. J. (2021). Dexamethasone in Hospitalized Patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med, 384(8), 693-704. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2021436
- 73. Hosier, H., Farhadian, S. F., Morotti, R. A., Deshmukh, U., Lu-Culligan, A., Campbell, K. H., Yasumoto, Y., Vogels, C. B., Casanovas-Massana, A., Vijayakumar, P., Geng, B., Odio, C. D., Fournier, J., Brito, A. F., Fauver, J. R., Liu, F., Alpert, T., Tal, R., Szigeti-Buck, K., . . . Lipkind, H. S. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 infection of the placenta. J Clin Invest, 130(9), 4947-4953. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci139569
- 74. Hurd, W. W., Miodovnik, M., Hertzberg, V., & Lavin, J. P. (1983). Selective management of abruptio placentae: a prospective study. Obstet Gynecol, 61(4), 467-473.
- 75. Husby, A., Hansen, J. V., Fosbøl, E., Thiesson, E. M., Madsen, M., Thomsen, R. W., Sørensen, H. T., Andersen, M., Wohlfahrt, J., Gislason, G., Torp-Pedersen, C., Køber, L., & Hviid, A. (2021). SARS-CoV-2 vaccination and myocarditis or myopericarditis: population based cohort study. BMJ, 375, e068665. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-068665
- 76. Iovino, M., Messana, T., Tortora, A., Giusti, C., Lisco, G., Giagulli, V. A., Guastamacchia, E., De Pergola, G., & Triggiani, V. (2021). Oxytocin Signaling Pathway: From Cell Biology to Clinical Implications. Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets, 21(1), 91-110. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871530320666200520093730



- 77. Irani, R. A., & Xia, Y. (2008). The functional role of the renin-angiotensin system in pregnancy and preeclampsia. Placenta, 29(9), 763-771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2008.06.011
- 78. Ito, M., Itakura, A., Ohno, Y., Nomura, M., Senga, T., Nagasaka, T., & Mizutani, S. (2002). Possible activation of the renin-angiotensin system in the feto-placental unit in preeclampsia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 87(4), 1871-1878. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.87.4.8422
- 79. Jafari, M., Pormohammad, A., Sheikh Neshin, S. A., Ghorbani, S., Bose, D., Alimohammadi, S., Basirjafari, S., Mohammadi, M., Rasmussen-Ivey, C., Razizadeh, M. H., Nouri-Vaskeh, M., & Zarei, M. (2021). Clinical characteristics and outcomes of pregnant women with COVID-19 and comparison with control patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Rev Med Virol, 31(5), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1002/rmv.2208
- 80. Jering, K. S., Claggett, B. L., Cunningham, J. W., Rosenthal, N., Vardeny, O., Greene, M. F., & Solomon, S. D. (2021). Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes of Hospitalized Women Giving Birth With and Without COVID-19. JAMA Internal Medicine, 181(5), 714-717. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.9241
- 81. Jering, K. S., Claggett, B. L., Cunningham, J. W., Rosenthal, N., Vardeny, O., Greene, M. F., & Solomon, S. D. (2021). Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes of Hospitalized Women Giving Birth With and Without COVID-19. JAMA Intern Med, 181(5), 714-717. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.9241
- 82. Jiménez-Blanco, S., Pla-Peris, B., & Marazuela, M. (2021). COVID-19: a cause of recurrent Graves' hyperthyroidism? J Endocrinol Invest, 44(2), 387-388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-020-01440-0</u>
- Jozaghi, Y., Zafereo, M. E., Perrier, N. D., Wang, J. R., Grubbs, E., Gross, N. D., Fisher, S., Sturgis, E. M., Goepfert, R. P., Lai, S. Y., Best, C., Busaidy, N. L., Cabanillas, M. E., Dadu, R., Gagel, R. F., Habra, M. A., Hu, M. I., Jimenez, C., Sherman, S. I., . . . Graham, P. H. (2020). Endocrine surgery in the Coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic: Surgical Triage Guidelines. Head Neck, 42(6), 1325-1328. https://doi.org/10.1002/hed.26169
- 84. Juan, J., Gil, M. M., Rong, Z., Zhang, Y., Yang, H., & Poon, L. C. (2020). Effect of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) on maternal, perinatal and neonatal outcome: systematic review. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol, 56(1), 15-27. https://doi.org/10.1002/uog.22088
- 85. Juncker, H. G., Mulleners, S. J., van Gils, M. J., Bijl, T. P. L., de Groot, C. J. M., Pajkrt, D., Korosi, A., van Goudoever, J. B., & van Keulen, B. J. (2021). Comparison of SARS-CoV-2-Specific Antibodies in Human Milk after mRNA-Based COVID-19 Vaccination and Infection. Vaccines (Basel), 9(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9121475
- 86. Kreis, N. N., Ritter, A., Louwen, F., & Yuan, J. (2020). A Message from the Human Placenta: Structural and Immunomodulatory Defense against SARS-CoV-2. Cells, 9(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9081777
- 87. Krieger, C. C., Perry, J. D., Morgan, S. J., Kahaly, G. J., & Gershengorn, M. C. (2017). TSH/IGF-1 Receptor Cross-Talk Rapidly Activates Extracellular Signal-Regulated



Kinases in Multiple Cell Types. Endocrinology, 158(10), 3676-3683. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2017-00528

- 88. Kwak-Kim, J., Bao, S., Lee, S. K., Kim, J. W., & Gilman-Sachs, A. (2014). Immunological modes of pregnancy loss: inflammation, immune effectors, and stress. Am J Reprod Immunol, 72(2), 129-140. https://doi.org/10.1111/aji.12234
- 89. Kyrou, I., Karteris, E., Robbins, T., Chatha, K., Drenos, F., & Randeva, H. S. (2020). Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and COVID-19: an overlooked female patient population at potentially higher risk during the COVID-19 pandemic. BMC Med, 18(1), 220. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-020-01697-5
- 90. L'Heudé, M., Poignant, S., Elaroussi, D., Espitalier, F., Ferrandière, M., & Laffon, M. (2019). Nephrogenic diabetes insipidus associated with prolonged sedation with sevoflurane in the intensive care unit. Br J Anaesth, 122(5), e73-e75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.02.009
- 91. Lambert, D. W., Yarski, M., Warner, F. J., Thornhill, P., Parkin, E. T., Smith, A. I., Hooper, N. M., & Turner, A. J. (2005). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha convertase (ADAM17) mediates regulated ectodomain shedding of the severe-acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus (SARS-CoV) receptor, angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2). J Biol Chem, 280(34), 30113-30119. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M505111200
- 92. Lania, A., Sandri, M. T., Cellini, M., Mirani, M., Lavezzi, E., & Mazziotti, G. (2020). Thyrotoxicosis in patients with COVID-19: the THYRCOV study. Eur J Endocrinol, 183(4), 381-387. https://doi.org/10.1530/eje-20-0335
- 93. Larremore, D. B., Wilder, B., Lester, E., Shehata, S., Burke, J. M., Hay, J. A., Tambe, M., Mina, M. J., & Parker, R. (2021). Test sensitivity is secondary to frequency and turnaround time for COVID-19 screening. Sci Adv, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abd5393
- 94. Lau, S. K., Woo, P. C., Yip, C. C., Tse, H., Tsoi, H. W., Cheng, V. C., Lee, P., Tang, B. S., Cheung, C. H., Lee, R. A., So, L. Y., Lau, Y. L., Chan, K. H., & Yuen, K. Y. (2006). Coronavirus HKU1 and other coronavirus infections in Hong Kong. J Clin Microbiol, 44(6), 2063-2071. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.02614-05
- 95. Lazartigues, E., Qadir, M. M. F., & Mauvais-Jarvis, F. (2020). Endocrine Significance of SARS-CoV-2's Reliance on ACE2. Endocrinology, 161(9). https://doi.org/10.1210/endocr/bgaa108
- 96. Lee, S. H., Yu, J., Hwang, G. H., Kim, S., Kim, H. S., Ye, S., Kim, K., Park, J., Park, D. Y., Cho, Y. K., Kim, J. S., & Bae, S. (2017). CUT-PCR: CRISPR-mediated, ultrasensitive detection of target DNA using PCR. Oncogene, 36(49), 6823-6829. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2017.281
- 97. Li, F., Lu, H., Zhang, Q., Li, X., Wang, T., Liu, Q., Yang, Q., & Qiang, L. (2021). Impact of COVID-19 on female fertility: a systematic review and meta-analysis protocol. BMJ Open, 11(2), e045524. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045524



- 98. Li, M., Chen, L., Zhang, J., Xiong, C., & Li, X. (2020). The SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 expression of maternal-fetal interface and fetal organs by single-cell transcriptome study. PLoS One, 15(4), e0230295. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230295
- 99. Li, S., Jiang, W., Huang, J., Liu, Y., Ren, L., Zhuang, L., Zheng, Q., Wang, M., Yang, R., Zeng, Y., & Wang, Y. (2020). Highly sensitive and specific diagnosis of COVID-19 by reverse transcription multiple cross-displacement amplification-labelled nanoparticles biosensor. Eur Respir J, 56(6). https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.02060-2020
- 100. Liu, H., Wang, L. L., Zhao, S. J., Kwak-Kim, J., Mor, G., & Liao, A. H. (2020). Why are pregnant women susceptible to COVID-19? An immunological viewpoint. J Reprod Immunol, 139, 103122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jri.2020.103122
- 101. Liu, W., Liu, L., Kou, G., Zheng, Y., Ding, Y., Ni, W., Wang, Q., Tan, L., Wu, W., Tang, S., Xiong, Z., & Zheng, S. (2020). Evaluation of Nucleocapsid and Spike Protein-Based Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assays for Detecting Antibodies against SARS-CoV-2. J Clin Microbiol, 58(6). https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.00461-20
- 102. Liu, Y., Chen, H., Tang, K., & Guo, Y. (2020). Withdrawn: Clinical manifestations and outcome of SARS-CoV-2 infection during pregnancy. J Infect. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.02.028
- 103. Lombardi, C. P., D'Amore, A., Grani, G., Ramundo, V., Boscherini, M., Gordini, L., Marzi, F., Tedesco, S., & Bocale, R. (2020). Endocrine surgery during COVID-19 pandemic: do we need an update of indications in Italy? Endocrine, 68(3), 485-488. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-020-02357-7
- 104. Louie, J. K., Acosta, M., Jamieson, D. J., & Honein, M. A. (2010). Severe 2009 H1N1 influenza in pregnant and postpartum women in California. N Engl J Med, 362(1), 27-35. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0910444
- 105. Lu, R., Zhao, X., Li, J., Niu, P., Yang, B., Wu, H., Wang, W., Song, H., Huang, B., Zhu, N., Bi, Y., Ma, X., Zhan, F., Wang, L., Hu, T., Zhou, H., Hu, Z., Zhou, W., Zhao, L., . . . Tan, W. (2020). Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. Lancet, 395(10224), 565-574. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30251-8
- 106. Lv, H., Wu, N. C., Tsang, O. T., Yuan, M., Perera, R., Leung, W. S., So, R. T. Y., Chan, J. M. C., Yip, G. K., Chik, T. S. H., Wang, Y., Choi, C. Y. C., Lin, Y., Ng, W. W., Zhao, J., Poon, L. L. M., Peiris, J. S. M., Wilson, I. A., & Mok, C. K. P. (2020). Crossreactive Antibody Response between SARS-CoV-2 and SARS-CoV Infections. Cell Rep, 31(9), 107725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.107725
- Magnus, M. C., Gjessing, H. K., Eide, H. N., Wilcox, A. J., Fell, D. B., & Håberg, S. E. (2021). Covid-19 Vaccination during Pregnancy and First-Trimester Miscarriage. New England Journal of Medicine, 385(21), 2008-2010. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2114466
- 108. Mao, Q., Chu, S., Shapiro, S., Young, L., Russo, M., & De Paepe, M. E. (2022). Placental SARS-CoV-2 distribution correlates with level of tissue oxygenation in



COVID-19-associated necrotizing histiocytic intervillositis/perivillous fibrin deposition. Placenta, 117, 187-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2021.12.002</u>

- 109. Mor, G., Aldo, P., & Alvero, A. B. (2017). The unique immunological and microbial aspects of pregnancy. Nat Rev Immunol, 17(8), 469-482. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.64
- Moradi, F., Enjezab, B., & Ghadiri-Anari, A. (2020). The role of androgens in COVID-19. Diabetes Metab Syndr, 14(6), 2003-2006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2020.10.014
- Moriguchi, T., Harii, N., Goto, J., Harada, D., Sugawara, H., Takamino, J., Ueno, M., Sakata, H., Kondo, K., Myose, N., Nakao, A., Takeda, M., Haro, H., Inoue, O., Suzuki-Inoue, K., Kubokawa, K., Ogihara, S., Sasaki, T., Kinouchi, H., . . . Shimada, S. (2020). A first case of meningitis/encephalitis associated with SARS-Coronavirus-2. Int J Infect Dis, 94, 55-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.03.062
- 112. Moritz, K. M., Cuffe, J. S., Wilson, L. B., Dickinson, H., Wlodek, M. E., Simmons, D. G., & Denton, K. M. (2010). Review: Sex specific programming: a critical role for the renal renin-angiotensin system. Placenta, 31 Suppl, S40-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2010.01.006
- 113. Mouri, M., Hall, H., & Rupp, T. J. (2022). Threatened Abortion. In StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing
- 114. Copyright © 2022, StatPearls Publishing LLC.
- 115. Murtas, R., Andreano, A., Gervasi, F., Guido, D., Consolazio, D., Tunesi, S., Andreoni, L., Greco, M. T., Gattoni, M. E., Sandrini, M., Riussi, A., & Russo, A. G. (2020). Association between autoimmune diseases and COVID-19 as assessed in both a test-negative case-control and population case-control design. Auto Immun Highlights, 11(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13317-020-00141-1
- Nakamura-Pereira, M., Betina Andreucci, C., de Oliveira Menezes, M., Knobel,
 R., & Takemoto, M. L. S. (2020). Worldwide maternal deaths due to COVID-19: A brief
 review. Int J Gynaecol Obstet, 151(1), 148-150. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.13328
- Nana, M., Hodson, K., Lucas, N., Camporota, L., Knight, M., & Nelson-Piercy, C. (2022). Diagnosis and management of covid-19 in pregnancy. BMJ, 377, e069739. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-069739
- 118. Narang, K., Enninga, E. A. L., Gunaratne, M., Ibirogba, E. R., Trad, A. T. A., Elrefaei, A., Theiler, R. N., Ruano, R., Szymanski, L. M., Chakraborty, R., & Garovic, V. D. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Infection and COVID-19 During Pregnancy: A Multidisciplinary Review. Mayo Clin Proc, 95(8), 1750-1765. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.05.011
- 119. Nieto-Torres, J. L., Dediego, M. L., Alvarez, E., Jiménez-Guardeño, J. M., Regla-Nava, J. A., Llorente, M., Kremer, L., Shuo, S., & Enjuanes, L. (2011). Subcellular



location and topology of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus envelope protein. Virology, 415(2), 69-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2011.03.029

- 120. Pal, R. (2020). COVID-19, hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis and clinical implications. Endocrine, 68(2), 251-252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-020-02325-1
- 121. Pal, R., & Banerjee, M. (2020). COVID-19 and the endocrine system: exploring the unexplored. J Endocrinol Invest, 43(7), 1027-1031. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-020-01276-8
- 122. Pan, F., Ye, T., Sun, P., Gui, S., Liang, B., Li, L., Zheng, D., Wang, J., Hesketh, R. L., Yang, L., & Zheng, C. (2020). Time Course of Lung Changes at Chest CT during Recovery from Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Radiology, 295(3), 715-721. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2020200370
- 123. Parer, J. T., & Livingston, E. G. (1990). What is fetal distress? Am J Obstet Gynecol, 162(6), 1421-1425; discussion 1425-1427. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9378(90)90901-i
- 124. Pavličev, M., Wagner, G. P., Chavan, A. R., Owens, K., Maziarz, J., Dunn-Fletcher, C., Kallapur, S. G., Muglia, L., & Jones, H. (2017). Single-cell transcriptomics of the human placenta: inferring the cell communication network of the maternal-fetal interface. Genome Res, 27(3), 349-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.207597.116</u>
- 125. Polack, F. P., Thomas, S. J., Kitchin, N., Absalon, J., Gurtman, A., Lockhart, S., Perez, J. L., Pérez Marc, G., Moreira, E. D., Zerbini, C., Bailey, R., Swanson, K. A., Roychoudhury, S., Koury, K., Li, P., Kalina, W. V., Cooper, D., Frenck, R. W., Hammitt, L. L., . . . Gruber, W. C. (2020). Safety and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine. New England Journal of Medicine, 383(27), 2603-2615. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2034577
- 126. Polack, F. P., Thomas, S. J., Kitchin, N., Absalon, J., Gurtman, A., Lockhart, S., Perez, J. L., Pérez Marc, G., Moreira, E. D., Zerbini, C., Bailey, R., Swanson, K. A., Roychoudhury, S., Koury, K., Li, P., Kalina, W. V., Cooper, D., Frenck, R. W., Jr., Hammitt, L. L., . . . Gruber, W. C. (2020). Safety and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine. N Engl J Med, 383(27), 2603-2615. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2034577
- 127. Powe, C. E., Levine, R. J., & Karumanchi, S. A. (2011). Preeclampsia, a disease of the maternal endothelium: the role of antiangiogenic factors and implications for later cardiovascular disease. Circulation, 123(24), 2856-2869. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.109.853127
- 128. Pringle, K. G., Tadros, M. A., Callister, R. J., & Lumbers, E. R. (2011). The expression and localization of the human placental prorenin/renin-angiotensin system throughout pregnancy: roles in trophoblast invasion and angiogenesis? Placenta, 32(12), 956-962. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2011.09.020
- 129. Puelles, V. G., Lütgehetmann, M., Lindenmeyer, M. T., Sperhake, J. P., Wong, M. N., Allweiss, L., Chilla, S., Heinemann, A., Wanner, N., Liu, S., Braun, F., Lu, S., Pfefferle, S., Schröder, A. S., Edler, C., Gross, O., Glatzel, M., Wichmann, D., Wiech, T.,



... Huber, T. B. (2020). Multiorgan and Renal Tropism of SARS-CoV-2. N Engl J Med, 383(6), 590-592. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2011400

- Puig-Domingo, M., Marazuela, M., & Giustina, A. (2020). COVID-19 and endocrine diseases. A statement from the European Society of Endocrinology. Endocrine, 68(1), 2-5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-020-02294-5
- 131. Qi, R., Li, T. C., & Chen, X. (2020). The role of the renin-angiotensin system in regulating endometrial neovascularization during the peri-implantation period: literature review and preliminary data. Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab, 11, 2042018820920560. https://doi.org/10.1177/2042018820920560
- 132. Raj, V. S., Mou, H., Smits, S. L., Dekkers, D. H., Müller, M. A., Dijkman, R., Muth, D., Demmers, J. A., Zaki, A., Fouchier, R. A., Thiel, V., Drosten, C., Rottier, P. J., Osterhaus, A. D., Bosch, B. J., & Haagmans, B. L. (2013). Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 is a functional receptor for the emerging human coronavirus-EMC. Nature, 495(7440), 251-254. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12005
- 133. Rajagopalan, S., & Long, E. O. (2018). Cell atlas reveals the landscape of early pregnancy. Nature, 563(7731), 337-338. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-018-07317-w
- 134. Reale, S. C., Lumbreras-Marquez, M. I., King, C. H., Burns, S. L., Fields, K. G., Diouf, K., Goldfarb, I. T., Ciaranello, A. L., Robinson, J. N., Gregory, K. E., Huybrechts, K. F., & Bateman, B. T. (2021). Patient characteristics associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection in parturients admitted for labour and delivery in Massachusetts during the spring 2020 surge: A prospective cohort study. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol, 35(1), 24-33. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppe.12743
- 135. Ren, S. Y., Wang, W. B., Gao, R. D., & Zhou, A. M. (2022). Omicron variant (B.1.1.529) of SARS-CoV-2: Mutation, infectivity, transmission, and vaccine resistance. World J Clin Cases, 10(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v10.i1.1
- 136. Rizzo, C., Gioia, M. I., Parisi, G., Triggiani, V., & Iacoviello, M. (2018). Dysthyroidism and Chronic Heart Failure: Pathophysiological Mechanisms and Therapeutic Approaches. Adv Exp Med Biol, 1067, 239-253. https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2017_132
- 137. Shi, L., Tu, N., & Patterson, P. H. (2005). Maternal influenza infection is likely to alter fetal brain development indirectly: the virus is not detected in the fetus. Int J Dev Neurosci, 23(2-3), 299-305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2004.05.005
- 138. Shi, S., Qin, M., Shen, B., Cai, Y., Liu, T., Yang, F., Gong, W., Liu, X., Liang, J., Zhao, Q., Huang, H., Yang, B., & Huang, C. (2020). Association of Cardiac Injury With Mortality in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Cardiol, 5(7), 802-810. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2020.0950
- Shimabukuro, T. T., Kim, S. Y., Myers, T. R., Moro, P. L., Oduyebo, T., Panagiotakopoulos, L., Marquez, P. L., Olson, C. K., Liu, R., Chang, K. T., Ellington, S. R., Burkel, V. K., Smoots, A. N., Green, C. J., Licata, C., Zhang, B. C., Alimchandani, M., Mba-Jonas, A., Martin, S. W., . . . Meaney-Delman, D. M. (2021). Preliminary



Findings of mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine Safety in Pregnant Persons. New England Journal of Medicine, 384(24), 2273-2282. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2104983

140. Silberstein, M. (2020). Vitamin D: A simpler alternative to tocilizumab for trial in COVID-19? Med Hypotheses, 140, 109767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.109767

141. Sills, E. S., & Wood, S. H. (2020). An Experimental Model for Peri-conceptual COVID-19 Pregnancy Loss and Proposed Interventions to Optimize Outcomes. Int J Mol Cell Med, 9(3), 180-187. https://doi.org/10.22088/ijmcm.Bums.9.3.180

142. Singer, M. E., Taub, I. B., & Kaelber, D. C. (2022). Risk of Myocarditis from COVID-19 Infection in People Under Age 20: A Population-Based Analysis. medRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.07.23.21260998

143. Siu, Y. L., Teoh, K. T., Lo, J., Chan, C. M., Kien, F., Escriou, N., Tsao, S. W., Nicholls, J. M., Altmeyer, R., Peiris, J. S., Bruzzone, R., & Nal, B. (2008). The M, E, and N structural proteins of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus are required for efficient assembly, trafficking, and release of virus-like particles. J Virol, 82(22), 11318-11330. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01052-08

144. Skalska-Świstek, M., Huras, H., Jaworowski, A. P., Świstek, R., & Kołak, M. (2022). COVID-19 Infection Complicated by Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation during Pregnancy—Two Cases Report. Diagnostics, 12(3), 655. https://www.mdpi.com/2075-4418/12/3/655

145. Snijder, E. J., Decroly, E., & Ziebuhr, J. (2016). The Nonstructural Proteins Directing Coronavirus RNA Synthesis and Processing. Adv Virus Res, 96, 59-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aivir.2016.08.008

146. Soumier, A., & Sirigu, A. (2020). Oxytocin as a potential defence against Covid-19? Med Hypotheses, 140, 109785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.109785

147. Steele, T., Kolamunnage-Dona, R., Downey, C., Toh, C. H., & Welters, I. (2013). Assessment and clinical course of hypocalcemia in critical illness. Crit Care, 17(3), R106. https://doi.org/10.1186/cc12756

148. Sterne, J. A. C., Murthy, S., Diaz, J. V., Slutsky, A. S., Villar, J., Angus, D. C., Annane, D., Azevedo, L. C. P., Berwanger, O., Cavalcanti, A. B., Dequin, P. F., Du, B., Emberson, J., Fisher, D., Giraudeau, B., Gordon, A. C., Granholm, A., Green, C., Haynes, R., . . . Marshall, J. C. (2020). Association Between Administration of Systemic Corticosteroids and Mortality Among Critically Ill Patients With COVID-19: A Metaanalysis. Jama, 324(13), 1330-1341. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.17023

- 149. Suba, Z. (2020). Prevention and therapy of COVID-19 via exogenous estrogen treatment for both male and female patients. J Pharm Pharm Sci, 23(1), 75-85. https://doi.org/10.18433/jpps31069
- 150. Subissi, L., Posthuma, C. C., Collet, A., Zevenhoven-Dobbe, J. C., Gorbalenya, A. E., Decroly, E., Snijder, E. J., Canard, B., & Imbert, I. (2014). One severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus protein complex integrates processive RNA polymerase and exonuclease activities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 111(37), E3900-3909. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1323705111



- 151. Tang, X., Feng, Y. M., Ni, J. X., Zhang, J. Y., Liu, L. M., Hu, K., Wu, X. Z., Zhang, J. X., Chen, J. W., Zhang, J. C., Su, J., Li, Y. L., Zhao, Y., Xie, J., Ding, Z., He, X. L., Wang, W., Jin, R. H., Shi, H. Z., & Sun, B. (2021). Early Use of Corticosteroid May Prolong SARS-CoV-2 Shedding in Non-Intensive Care Unit Patients with COVID-88
- 152. 19 Pneumonia: A Multicenter, Single-Blind, Randomized Control Trial. Respiration, 100(2), 116-126. https://doi.org/10.1159/000512063
- 153. Taylor, F. B., Jr., Toh, C. H., Hoots, W. K., Wada, H., & Levi, M. (2001). Towards definition, clinical and laboratory criteria, and a scoring system for disseminated intravascular coagulation. Thromb Haemost, 86(5), 1327-1330.
- 154. Tee, L. Y., Harjanto, S., & Rosario, B. H. (2021). COVID-19 complicated by Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Singapore Med J, 62(5), 265. https://doi.org/10.11622/smedj.2020106
- 155. Tetro, J. A. (2020). Is COVID-19 receiving ADE from other coronaviruses? Microbes Infect, 22(2), 72-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2020.02.006
- 156. Thomas, B. J., Porritt, R. A., Hertzog, P. J., Bardin, P. G., & Tate, M. D. (2014). Glucocorticosteroids enhance replication of respiratory viruses: effect of adjuvant interferon. Sci Rep, 4, 7176. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep07176
- 157. Todylaboratories. (2019). 2019-nCoV IgG/IgM Test Rapid Casete (sânge integral/ser/plasmă)
- 158. Prospect produs. In.
- 159. Tramontana, F., Napoli, N., El-Hajj Fuleihan, G., & Strollo, R. (2020). The D-side of COVID-19: musculoskeletal benefits of vitamin D and beyond. Endocrine, 69(2), 237-240. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-020-02407-0
- 160. Triggiani, V., & Iacoviello, M. (2013). Thyroid disorders in chronic heart failure: from prognostic set-up to therapeutic management. Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets, 13(1), 22-37. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871530311313010005
- 161. Trostle, M. E., Limaye, M. A., Avtushka, V., Lighter, J. L., Penfield, C. A., & Roman, A. S. (2021). COVID-19 vaccination in pregnancy: early experience from a single institution. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM, 3(6), 100464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajogmf.2021.100464
- Tsang, V. H. M., Gild, M., Glover, A., Clifton-Bligh, R., & Robinson, B. G. (2020). Thyroid cancer in the age of COVID-19. Endocr Relat Cancer, 27(11), R407-r416. https://doi.org/10.1530/erc-20-0279
- 163. Tung Thanh Le, Z. A., Arun Kumar, Raúl Gómez Román, Stig Tollefsen, Melanie Saville and Stephen Mayhew. (2020). The COVID-19 vaccine development landscape. NaTure reviews | Drug DISCOVery, 19, 306.
- 164. Turner, J., Gittoes, N., & Selby, P. (2016). SOCIETY FOR ENDOCRINOLOGY ENDOCRINE EMERGENCY GUIDANCE: Emergency management of acute



hypocalcaemia in adult patients. Endocr Connect, 5(5), G7-g8. https://doi.org/10.1530/ec-16-0056

- 165. Tyrrell, D. A., & Bynoe, M. L. (1966). Cultivation of viruses from a high proportion of patients with colds. Lancet, 1(7428), 76-77. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(66)92364-6
- 166. Udugama, B., Kadhiresan, P., Kozlowski, H. N., Malekjahani, A., Osborne, M., Li, V. Y. C., Chen, H., Mubareka, S., Gubbay, J. B., & Chan, W. C. W. (2020). Diagnosing COVID-19: The Disease and Tools for Detection. ACS Nano, 14(4), 3822-3835. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.0c02624
- 167. Uhlenhaut, C., Cohen, J. I., Pavletic, S., Illei, G., Gea-Banacloche, J. C., Abu-Asab, M., Krogmann, T., Gubareva, L., McClenahan, S., & Krause, P. R. (2012). Use of a novel virus detection assay to identify coronavirus HKU1 in the lungs of a hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipient with fatal pneumonia. Transpl Infect Dis, 14(1), 79-85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3062.2011.00657.x
- 168. Valdés, G., Neves, L. A., Anton, L., Corthorn, J., Chacón, C., Germain, A. M., Merrill, D. C., Ferrario, C. M., Sarao, R., Penninger, J., & Brosnihan, K. B. (2006a). Distribution of angiotensin-(1-7) and ACE2 in human placentas of normal and pathological pregnancies. Placenta, 27(2-3), 200-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2005.02.015
- 169. Wang, J., Hajizadeh, N., Moore, E. E., McIntyre, R. C., Moore, P. K., Veress, L. A., Yaffe, M. B., Moore, H. B., & Barrett, C. D. (2020). Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) treatment for COVID-19 associated acute
- 170. respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS): A case series. J Thromb Haemost, 18(7), 1752-1755. https://doi.org/10.1111/jth.14828
- 171. Wang, K., Gheblawi, M., & Oudit, G. Y. (2020). Angiotensin Converting Enzyme
 2: A Double-Edged Sword. Circulation, 142(5), 426-428. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.120.047049
- 172. Wang, M. Y., Zhao, R., Gao, L. J., Gao, X. F., Wang, D. P., & Cao, J. M. (2020). SARS-CoV-2: Structure, Biology, and Structure-Based Therapeutics Development. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 10, 587269. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2020.587269
- 173. Wang, W., Xu, Y., Gao, R., Lu, R., Han, K., Wu, G., & Tan, W. (2020). Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in Different Types of Clinical Specimens. Jama, 323(18), 1843-1844. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.3786
- Wastnedge, E. A. N., Reynolds, R. M., van Boeckel, S. R., Stock, S. J., Denison,
 F. C., Maybin, J. A., & Critchley, H. O. D. (2021). Pregnancy and COVID-19. Physiol Rev, 101(1), 303-318. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00024.2020
- 175. Weatherbee, B. A. T., Glover, D. M., & Zernicka-Goetz, M. (2020). Expression of SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 and the protease TMPRSS2 suggests susceptibility of the human embryo in the first trimester. Open Biol, 10(8), 200162. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob.200162



- Wei, L., Sun, S., Zhang, J., Zhu, H., Xu, Y., Ma, Q., McNutt, M. A., Korteweg, C., & Gu, J. (2010). Endocrine cells of the adenohypophysis in severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). Biochem Cell Biol, 88(4), 723-730. https://doi.org/10.1139/o10-022
- 177. Wei, S. Q., Bilodeau-Bertrand, M., Liu, S., & Auger, N. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 on pregnancy outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cmaj, 193(16), E540-e548. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.202604
- 178. Wentworth, D. E., & Holmes, K. V. (2001). Molecular determinants of species specificity in the coronavirus receptor aminopeptidase N (CD13): influence of N-linked glycosylation. J Virol, 75(20), 9741-9752. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.75.20.9741-9752.2001
- Whittaker, E., Bamford, A., Kenny, J., Kaforou, M., Jones, C. E., Shah, P., Ramnarayan, P., Fraisse, A., Miller, O., Davies, P., Kucera, F., Brierley, J., McDougall, M., Carter, M., Tremoulet, A., Shimizu, C., Herberg, J., Burns, J. C., Lyall, H., & Levin, M. (2020). Clinical Characteristics of 58 Children With a Pediatric Inflammatory Multisystem Syndrome Temporally Associated With SARS-CoV-2. Jama, 324(3), 259-269. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.10369
- 180. Whitworth, J. (2020). COVID-19: a fast evolving pandemic. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 114(4), 241-248. https://doi.org/10.1093/trstmh/traa025
- 181. Wilkinson, M., Johnstone, E. D., Simcox, L. E., & Myers, J. E. (2022). The impact of COVID-19 on pregnancy outcomes in a diverse cohort in England. Scientific Reports, 12(1), 942. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-04898-5
- 182. Winn, B. J. (2020). Is there a role for insulin-like growth factor inhibition in the treatment of COVID-19-related adult respiratory distress syndrome? Med Hypotheses, 144, 110167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.110167
- 183. Woo, P. C., Lau, S. K., Lam, C. S., Lau, C. C., Tsang, A. K., Lau, J. H., Bai, R., Teng, J. L., Tsang, C. C., Wang, M., Zheng, B. J., Chan, K. H., & Yuen, K. Y. (2012). Discovery of seven novel Mammalian and avian coronaviruses in the genus deltacoronavirus supports bat coronaviruses as the gene source of alphacoronavirus and betacoronavirus and avian coronaviruses as the gene source of gammacoronavirus and deltacoronavirus. J Virol, 86(7), 3995-4008. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.06540-11
- 184. Wu, A., Peng, Y., Huang, B., Ding, X., Wang, X., Niu, P., Meng, J., Zhu, Z., Zhang, Z., Wang, J., Sheng, J., Quan, L., Xia, Z., Tan, W., Cheng, G., & Jiang, T. (2020). Genome Composition and Divergence of the Novel 90
- 185. Coronavirus (2019-nCoV) Originating in China. Cell Host Microbe, 27(3), 325-328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2020.02.001
- 186. Wu, J. T., Leung, K., Bushman, M., Kishore, N., Niehus, R., de Salazar, P. M., Cowling, B. J., Lipsitch, M., & Leung, G. M. (2020). Estimating clinical severity of COVID-19 from the transmission dynamics in Wuhan, China. Nat Med, 26(4), 506-510. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0822-7



- 187. Yamaleyeva, L. M., Pulgar, V. M., Lindsey, S. H., Yamane, L., Varagic, J., McGee, C., daSilva, M., Lopes Bonfa, P., Gurley, S. B., & Brosnihan, K. B. (2015). Uterine artery dysfunction in pregnant ACE2 knockout mice is associated with placental hypoxia and reduced umbilical blood flow velocity. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 309(1), E84-94. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00596.2014
- 188. Yan, J., Guo, J., Fan, C., Juan, J., Yu, X., Li, J., Feng, L., Li, C., Chen, H., Qiao, Y., Lei, D., Wang, C., Xiong, G., Xiao, F., He, W., Pang, Q., Hu, X., Wang, S., Chen, D., . . . Yang, H. (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019 in pregnant women: a report based on 116 cases. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 223(1), 111.e111-111.e114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2020.04.014
- 189. Yang, K. M., Ntrivalas, E., Cho, H. J., Kim, N. Y., Beaman, K., Gilman-Sachs, A., & Kwak-Kim, J. (2010). Women with multiple implantation failures and recurrent pregnancy losses have increased peripheral blood T cell activation. Am J Reprod Immunol, 63(5), 370-378. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00811.x
- 190. Yano, Y., Sugino, K., Akaishi, J., Uruno, T., Okuwa, K., Shibuya, H., Kitagawa, W., Nagahama, M., Ito, K., & Ito, K. (2011). Treatment of autonomously functioning thyroid nodules at a single institution: radioiodine therapy, surgery, and ethanol injection therapy. Ann Nucl Med, 25(10), 749-754. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12149-011-0526-7
- 191. Yockey, L. J., & Iwasaki, A. (2018). Interferons and Proinflammatory Cytokines in Pregnancy and Fetal Development. Immunity, 49(3), 397-412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2018.07.017
- 192. Yu, E. W., Tsourdi, E., Clarke, B. L., Bauer, D. C., & Drake, M. T. (2020). Osteoporosis Management in the Era of COVID-19. J Bone Miner Res, 35(6), 1009-1013. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.4049
- 193. Yu, N., Li, W., Kang, Q., Xiong, Z., Wang, S., Lin, X., Liu, Y., Xiao, J., Liu, H., Deng, D., Chen, S., Zeng, W., Feng, L., & Wu, J. (2020). Clinical features and obstetric and neonatal outcomes of pregnant patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective, single-centre, descriptive study. Lancet Infect Dis, 20(5), 559-564. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(20)30176-6
- 194. Zaigham, M., & Andersson, O. (2020). Maternal and perinatal outcomes with COVID-19: A systematic review of 108 pregnancies. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand, 99(7), 823-829. https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.13867
- 195. Zaki, A. M., van Boheemen, S., Bestebroer, T. M., Osterhaus, A. D., & Fouchier, R. A. (2012). Isolation of a novel coronavirus from a man with pneumonia in Saudi Arabia. N Engl J Med, 367(19), 1814-1820. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1211721
- 196. Zambrano, L. D., Ellington, S., Strid, P., Galang, R. R., Oduyebo ., Tong, V. T., Woodworth, K. R., Nahabedian, J. F., 3rd, Azziz-Baumgartner, E., Gilboa, S. M., & Meaney-Delman, D. (2020). Update: Characteristics of Symptomatic Women of Reproductive Age with Laboratory-Confirmed SARS-CoV-2 Infection by Pregnancy Status - United States, January 22-October 3, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 69(44), 1641-1647. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6944e3



- 197. Zeng, H., Xu, C., Fan, J., Tang, Y., Deng, Q., Zhang, W., & Long, X. (2020).
 Antibodies in Infants Born to Mothers With COVID-19 Pneumonia. Jama, 323(18), 1848-1849. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.4861
- 198. Zeng, L., Xia, S., Yuan, W., Yan, K., Xiao, F., Shao, J., & Zhou, W. (2020). Neonatal Early-Onset Infection With SARS-CoV-2 in 33 Neonates Born to Mothers With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Pediatr, 174(7), 722-725. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.0878 91
- 199. Zhang, L., Dong, L., Ming, L., Wei, M., Li, J., Hu, R., & Yang, J. (2020). Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2(SARS-CoV-2) infection during late pregnancy: a report of 18 patients from Wuhan, China. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 20(1), 394. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-03026-3
- 200. Zhang, N., Wang, L., Deng, X., Liang, R., Su, M., He, C., Hu, L., Su, Y., Ren, J., Yu, F., Du, L., & Jiang, S. (2020). Recent advances in the detection of respiratory virus infection in humans. J Med Virol, 92(4), 408-417. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25674
- 201. Zhang, W., Du, R. H., Li, B., Zheng, X. S., Yang, X. L., Hu, B., Wang, Y. Y., Xiao, G. F., Yan, B., Shi, Z. L., & Zhou, P. (2020). Molecular and serological investigation of 2019-nCoV infected patients: implication of multiple shedding routes. Emerg Microbes Infect, 9(1), 386-389. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2020.1729071
- 202. Zhang, Y., Xiao, M., Zhang, S., Xia, P., Cao, W., Jiang, W., Chen, H., Ding, X., Zhao, H., Zhang, H., Wang, C., Zhao, J., Sun, X., Tian, R., Wu, W., Wu, D., Ma, J., Chen, Y., Zhang, D., . . . Zhang, S. (2020). Coagulopathy and Antiphospholipid Antibodies in Patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med, 382(17), e38. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2007575
- 203. Zheng, H. Y., Zhang, M., Yang, C. X., Zhang, N., Wang, X. C., Yang, X. P., Dong, X. Q., & Zheng, Y. T. (2020). Elevated exhaustion levels and reduced functional diversity of T cells in peripheral blood may predict severe progression in COVID-19 patients. Cell Mol Immunol, 17(5), 541-543. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41423-020-0401-3
- 204. Zheng, J. (2020). SARS-CoV-2: an Emerging Coronavirus that Causes a Global Threat. Int J Biol Sci, 16(10), 1678-1685. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.45053
- 205. Zhou, B., Thao, T. T. N., Hoffmann, D., Taddeo, A., Ebert, N., Labroussaa, F., Pohlmann, A., King, J., Steiner, S., Kelly, J. N., Portmann, J., Halwe, N. J., Ulrich, L., Trüeb, B. S., Fan, X., Hoffmann, B., Wang, L., Thomann, L., Lin, X., Beer, M. (2021). SARS-CoV-2 spike D614G change enhances replication and transmission. Nature, 592(7852), 122-127. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03361-1
- 206. Zhou, F., Yu, T., Du, R., Fan, G., Liu, Y., Liu, Z., Xiang, J., Wang, Y., Song, B., Gu, X., Guan, L., Wei, Y., Li, H., Wu, X., Xu, J., Tu, S., Zhang, Y., Chen, H., & Cao, B. (2020). Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet, 395(10229), 1054-1062. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30566-3



- Zhu, N., Zhang, D., Wang, W., Li, X., Yang, B., Song, J., Zhao, X., Huang, B., Shi, W., Lu, R., Niu, P., Zhan, F., Ma, X., Wang, D., Xu, W., Wu, G., Gao, G. F., & Tan, W. (2020). A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med, 382(8), 727-733. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001017
- 208. Zumla, A., Chan, J. F., Azhar, E. I., Hui, D. S., & Yuen, K. Y. (2016). Coronaviruses - drug discovery and therapeutic options. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 15(5), 327-347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2015.37</u>



Appendix 1 – SUMMARY OF THESIS ABSTRACT

Introduction: COVID-19 has created a huge challenge in the world's healthcare system. All health systems are vulnerable and there are practical steps that all countries can take, not only to increase the available resources, but also to ensure the ability to adapt and use these resources differently, in the most varied scenarios. This thesis represents a synthesis of the characteristics and maternal-fetal complications that occurred in the context of infection with the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic virus. At the same time, aspects related to epidemiological, clinical data, paraclinical investigations and other parameters of interest were touched upon.

Objectives: The main objective of this thesis is to underline the maternal-fetal complications that occurre during the three trimesters of pregnancy and the obstetrical management applied in order to solve them as efficiently as possible. As specific objectives, the thesis aims to analyze the epidemiological data through the lens of maternal-fetal complications that occurred during the pandemic, to establish potential links between the risk factor of COVID 19 and the multiple complications that occurred at various times during pregnancy (trimester I, trimester II, trimester III) and at the moment of birth, to emphasize aspects concerning the quality of life of patients during the pandemic through the lens of measures to combat the SARS-Cov-2 virus.

Research material and method: The research was carried out in the Clinical Hospital of Obstetrics and Gynecology "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" Brașov. This was based on a prospective study carried out over a period of 2 years and 3 months (01.01.2020-08.03.2022). The design of the study involved a cohort, longitudinal, prospective research, which included the population of pregnant women hospitalized during the period mentioned above.

To evaluate the impact of SARS-CoV-2 infection on the quality of life, we created a questionnaire with questions aimed at assessing the general evolution, psycho-emotional damage, the perception of the changes caused by the viral infection, as well as the assessment of intra-hospital measures to combat the transmission of the virus.

The statistical and graphic processing of the data used to carry out the prospective study from January 1, 2020 to March 3, 2023 was carried out with the help of Microsoft Excel, GraphPad prism 9.2.0 and GPOwer3.1 programs.

Results and discussion: The spread of the COVID-19 infection occurred rapidly, both in urban and rural environments, thus 52.79% of the patients came from the urban environment, and 47.21% came from the urban environment. Thus, there was no predilection in the spread of the virus, pregnant women from both environments being equally affected.

In the current research, a 57% higher rate of caesarean sections could be observed in the group of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection compared to the control group that recorded 52%



cesarean births (p=0.17). Among the indications for caesarean section was SARS CoV-2 infection (7%), to improve the maternal status in the context of a severe form.

In the study carried out at the Clinical Hospital of Obstetrics and Gynecology "Dr.I.A.Sbârcea" similar results were recorded in terms of fetal death, respectively 0.70% for the control group and 1.26% for pregnant women with SARS-CoV infection -2 (RR 0.55, 95% CI 0.13-2.31, p=0.72).

We performed a multivariable analysis of certain determinants, including COVID 19 infection, in the occurrence of maternal-fetal complications. Following this complex analysis, SARS-CoV-2 infection did not have the greatest weight in triggering premature birth, in the occurrence of coagulation disorders, inflammatory syndrome or liver cytolysis. Other infectious, obstetrical, cardiovascular or metabolic factors had a greater impact in the occurrence of maternal-fetal complications.

Conclusions: The SARS-CoV-2 infection had a general impact on the medical system and on hospitalized obstetric patients during the pandemic, but the SARS-CoV-2 infection does not seem to have a major impact on the occurrence of the studied maternal-fetal complications. According to the multivariable analysis of the different determining factors there were other impact factors on maternal-fetal complications. Although the influence of COVID-19 did not have the greatest weight in determining complications, it remains a major factor in determining the way of delivery, and pregnant women with SARS-CoV-2 infection predominantly gave birth by cesarean section. A minor difference in the occurrence of maternal-fetal complications between the group with SARS-CoV 2 infection and the one without infection is due to effective medical management, continuously adapting to new changes and new challenges.